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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
The Directors of Osmosis ICAV (formerly Prescient ICAV) (the “ICAV”) have the pleasure in submitting their 
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
(the “Sub-Fund”) for the year ended 30 June 2022 to the shareholders. 
 
Directors’ Statement on Accounting Records 
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that accounting records, as outlined in Section 110 of the Irish 
Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 (the “Act”), are kept by the ICAV. To achieve this, the 
Directors have employed Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited as 
administrator of the ICAV (the “Administrator”). The Administrator is authorised and regulated by the Central 
Bank and comply with the rules imposed by the Central Bank. The accounting records are maintained at the 
offices of the Administrator at Georges Court, 54 – 62 Townsend Street, Dublin 2, D02 R156, Ireland. 
 
Background to the ICAV 
The background and structure to the ICAV are outlined in Note 1 to these financial statements. 
 
Activities and Business Review 
A detailed review of the Sub-Fund’s activities for the year ended 30 June 2022 is included in the Investment 
Manager Report and significant events during the year are outlined in Note 18 to these financial statements. 
 
Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Sub-Fund are the investment risks associated with the 
portfolio of investments held for the account of the Sub-Fund and the operational risks associated with their 
management and administration. 
 
The information required under the accounting standards adopted by the ICAV, International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU (“IFRS”), in relation to the use by the ICAV of financial 
instruments, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the ICAV and the exposures of the Sub-
Fund to market risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, price and cash flow risk are 
outlined in Note 8 to these financial statements. 
 
Transactions involving Directors 
Other than as disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements, there were no contracts or agreements of any 
significance in relation to the business of the ICAV in which the Directors had any interest, as defined in the 
Act, at any time during the year. 
 
Transactions with Connected Persons 
The UCITS Regulations require that any transaction carried out with a UCITS by a management company or 
depositary to the UCITS, the delegates or sub-delegates of the management company or depository, and any 
associated or group of such a management company, depository, delegate or sub-delegate (“connected persons”) 
must be carried out as if negotiated at arm’s length. Transactions must be in the best interests of the 
shareholders. 
 
The Directors are satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written procedures) in place, to ensure that 
the obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the UCITS Regulations are applied to all transactions with 
connected persons, and are satisfied that transactions with connected persons entered into during the financial 
period complied with the obligations set out in Regulation 43(1) of the UCITS Regulations. 
 
Corporate Governance Code 
Irish Funds, the association for the funds industry in Ireland, has published a corporate governance code that 
may be adopted on a voluntary basis by Irish authorised collective investment schemes. The Directors have 
adopted the code, and the ICAV was in compliance with all elements of the Code during the year. 
 
Results 
The results of operations for the year are set out in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 

Key Performance Indicators 
The key performance indicators monitored for the Sub-Fund include the performance of the Sub-Fund, the level 
of subscriptions and redemptions and compliance with investment restrictions and risk limits. The performance 
of the Sub-Fund is reviewed in the Investment Manager Report. 

Dividends 
The Directors do not intend to declare dividend distributions in respect of the Sub-Fund. Accordingly all income 
and capital gains in respect of the Sub-Fund will be re-invested by the Sub-Fund and shall be reflected in the 
Net Asset Value per Share of the Sub-Fund. 

Significant events during the year 

The COVID-19 pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation on 11th March 2020 continues to have 
an effect on global financial markets with increased volatility and uncertainty. Whilst operational risks faced by 
the Sub-Fund and its service providers continue to be monitored, the Directors believe that there is no current 
impact to the Sub-Fund caused by COVID-19. However the Directors note that the continuation of 
unprecedented quantitative easing by governments is creating anomalous market conditions. The Directors will 
continue to monitor this situation. 

On 17 January 2022, Carey Millerd resigned as Director. 

On 17 February 2022, Hermanus Steyn resigned as Director. 

On 28 March 2022, Eoin Gleeson was appointed as Director. 

The Board of Directors have noted the recent developments in the Ukraine and the sanctions being imposed on 
Russia. Given the absence of exposure in the region, the Board of Directors' view is that these developments and 
sanctions are unlikely to have a significant direct adverse impact on the ICAV. The Board of Directors 
continues to monitor the developments closely and to take all the necessary actions.  

There have been no other significant events affecting the Sub-Fund during the year. 

Significant events since the year-end 
The significant events since the year-end date are detailed in Note 19. 

Employees 
The Sub-Fund had no employees during the year ended 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: none). 

Segregated Liabilities 
The ICAV is an umbrella Fund with segregated liability between Sub-Funds. The ICAV has availed of the 
Segregated Liabilities provision of section 35 of the ICAV Act 2015.  

Future Developments 
The ICAV will continue to act as an investment vehicle as set out in the Prospectus. 

Independent Auditor 
In accordance with Section 125 of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015, Ernst & Young 
Chartered Accountants were appointed to the ICAV in the previous year and have expressed willingness to 
remain in office. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Directors Report and the Financial Statements 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and financial statements, in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.   

The Act requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period. Under that law they have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and applicable law. 

The financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position 
of the Sub-Fund at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the Sub-Fund for the financial 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:   

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Sub-Fund will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the ICAV and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 and the Central 
Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2015. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Sub-Fund. In this regard they have entrusted the assets of 
the Sub-Fund to Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Depositary”) for safekeeping. They 
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to prevent and detect fraud and 
other irregularities. The directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report that complies with the 
requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015. 

Director Director 

Date: 19 October 2022        Date: 19 October 2022 
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REPORT OF THE DEPOSITARY TO THE SHAREHOLDER 
For the year ended 30 June 2022  

We, Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited, appointed Depositary to Osmosis ICAV (formerly 
Prescient ICAV) (the “ICAV”) provide this report solely in favour of the shareholders of the ICAV for the year 
ended 30 June 2022 (the “Accounting Period”). This report is provided in accordance with the European 
Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2011 (SI No 352 
of 2011), as amended, which implemented Directive 2009/65/EU into Irish Law (the “Regulations”). We do not, 
in the provision of this report, accept nor assume responsibility for any other purpose or person to whom this 
report is shown. 

In accordance with our Depositary obligation as provided for under the Regulations, we have enquired into the 
conduct of the ICAV for this Accounting Period and we hereby report thereon to the shareholders of the ICAV 
as follows; 

We are of the opinion that the ICAV has been managed during the Accounting Period, in all material respects: 

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the ICAV by the
constitutional documents and by the Regulations; and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the constitutional document and the Regulations.

_____________________________________________ 
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited 
Georges Court 
54-62 Townsend Street
Dublin 2

19 October 2022 

IG25
Stamp
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OSMOSIS RESOURCE EFFICIENT 

EQUITY MARKET NEUTRAL FUND, A SUB-FUND OF OSMOSIS ICAV 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements  

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
(the “sub-fund”), a sub-fund of Osmosis ICAV (‘the ICAV’) for the year ended 30 June 2022, which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Participating Shares, Statement of Cash 
Flows and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies 
set out in note 2. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish 
Law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.  

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the ICAV as at 30 June 
2022 and of its loss for the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union; and  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-
management Vehicles Act 2015, the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective 
Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011, and the Central Bank (Supervision and 
Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable 
Securities) Regulations 2015. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) 

and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the ICAV in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements 

in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 

Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern  

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern 

basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ICAV’s ability to 

continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described 

in the relevant sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be 

predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OSMOSIS RESOURCE EFFICIENT 

EQUITY MARKET NEUTRAL FUND, A SUB-FUND OF OSMOSIS ICAV (continued) 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 

opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 

otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 

apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 

2015 

In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.  

 

Respective responsibilities 

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements  

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 5, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework that give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the ICAV’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the ICAV or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

IAASA's website at: http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-

a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf.  

This description forms part of our auditor's report. 

 

 

http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf
http://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF OSMOSIS RESOURCE EFFICIENT 

EQUITY MARKET NEUTRAL FUND, A SUB-FUND OF OSMOSIS ICAV (continued) 

 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

Our report is made solely to the ICAV’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 120 of the Irish 

Collective Asset Management Vehicles Act 2015. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 

state to the ICAV’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 

for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 

to anyone other than the ICAV and the ICAV’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 

or for the opinions we have formed.  

 

 

Ernst & Young  
For and on behalf of  
Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants 
Dublin 
 

Date: 26 October 2022 
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT – Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 

Performance Table: 
1 Year Performance Since Inception 

Osmosis Resource Efficient 
Equity Market Neutral Fund (A 
share class) 

-1.03% -.24% 

Inception = 08/03/2018, 1 yr = 30/06/2021 – 30/06/2022 
Source: Bloomberg.  Tickers in order = OSSMNAU ID 

Performance Comment: 

Q3 2021 

The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund started the quarter strong rising up 1.90% (net) until 
the 13th of August. However, as markets were rocked significantly during the month of September, the performance 
of the Fund turned negative and the Fund closed the quarter down -1.79% (net). 

The overall Market Neutral sector had a negative quarter as the HFRX Equity Market Neutral Index (an index 
representative of the overall composition of the hedge fund universe) fell -1.11% over the period. The Market 
Neutral Fund had a neutral beta of -0.04 to the MSCI World* during the quarter while the HFRX Equity Market 
Neutral had a beta of 0.04. 

Although most of the Fund's risk was attributable to the stock specific/idiosyncratic factor, which we attribute to the 
exposure to resource efficiency, there were some common factor exposures that contributed to the performance 
during the quarter. Stock specific exposures contributed negatively while the Fund's slight exposure to momentum 
improved performance in the quarter. 

The North American portion of the Fund delivered -2.25% (gross) over the period. The EMEA exposure produced 
positive returns of 2.12% (gross).  The APAC holdings produced a negative return of -0.88% (gross). From a sector 
perspective, there were some strong performances from the IT and consumer discretionary sectors, delivering 0.95% 
(gross) and 0.29% (gross), respectively. The APAC IT companies provided 0.78% (gross) of return for the quarter. 
However, there was a reduction in return from the health care and consumer staples sector, which contributed -
1.17% and -1.10% (gross) respectively. In particular, the North American health care companies reduced return by 
1.02% (gross). 

During the quarter the long book generated negative returns while the short book added. When attributing the long 
and short book returns, the stock specific/idiosyncratic factor generated negative returns within the long and short 
book of the Fund (-1.25% and -0.18% gross). The negative common factor return of the long positions was less than 
the positive common factor returns of the short positions. This resulted in a residual positive 0.38% contribution 
(gross). 

Q4 2021 

The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund started the final quarter in a strong fashion, rising 
2.92% (net) to 11th November. However, the Fund’s positive performance was eroded in November and December, 
and it closed the final quarter with a -0.20% (net) return. 

The overall Market Neutral sector had a negative quarter and the HFRX Equity Market Neutral Index (an index 
representative of the overall composition of the hedge fund universe) fell -0.35% over the period. The Market 
Neutral Fund had a beta of 0.03 to the MSCI World* during the quarter while the HFRX Equity Market Neutral had 
a beta of 0.01. 
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT – Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
(Continued) 

Most of the Fund’s positive return was attributable to the common factor exposures, where the overweight position 
to profitability and underweight exposure to residual volatility led to some strong returns. The stock-specific 
exposures were a negative contribution to return, however.  

The North American portion of the Fund delivered 2.70% (gross) over the period. The EMEA exposure produced 
negative returns of -1.54% (gross).  The APAC holdings produced a negative return of -1.19% (gross). From a 
sector perspective, there were some strong performances from the IT and utilities sectors, delivering 1.52% (gross) 
and 0.96% (gross), respectively. The North American IT companies provided 1.84% (gross) of return for the 
quarter. However, there was a reduction in return from the consumer discretionary and consumer staples sector, 
which detracted -1.85% and -1.20% (gross) respectively. In particular, the EMEA consumer discretionary 
companies reduced return by 1.28% (gross). 

Within the quarter, the long book generated positive returns while the short book detracted. When attributing the 
long and short book returns, the stock specific/idiosyncratic factor generated positive returns within the longs of 
3.46% (gross) but detracted -4.35% (gross) in the shorts. The positive common factor return of the longs more than 
offset the shorts' negative common factor returns resulting in a residual positive 0.86% contribution (gross). 

Q1 2022 

The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund registered positive absolute returns amid the changing 
economic climate. The low-interest-rate environment that markets had grown accustomed to was stopped in its 
tracks as the Fed and other central banks globally announced interest rate hikes in the coming year as they seek to 
combat higher inflation. Unsurprisingly, this resulted in sharp price corrections for many growth companies, and we 
witnessed an unprecedented style rotation into value stocks. This benefitted the Fund’s short book as companies 
with weak balance sheets, and extreme valuations retreated. 

Furthermore, the geopolitical tensions during the quarter provided another source of alpha for the short book. With 
the invasion of Ukraine, markets entered multiple days of negative returns as the uncertainty weighed heavily on the 
future of the EMEA region and, in particular, those companies which had exposure to the Russian sanctions. The 
Fund benefitted significantly from this market insecurity, which hadn’t been experienced in 2021 as governments 
piled in with support for economies and consumer spending. 

The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund returned 3.57% (net) over the quarter. In comparison, 
the HFRX Equity Market Neutral Index (an index representative of the overall composition of the hedge fund 
universe) rose only 0.10% over the period. The Market Neutral Fund had a beta of -0.06 to the MSCI World* during 
the quarter, while the HFRX Equity Market Neutral** had a beta of 0.01. 

Surprisingly, the quality bias of the Fund led to some detractions from return as our overweight positions to 
profitability hampered performance. However, as one would expect, the underweight exposure to residual volatility 
was positive. 

The uncorrelated nature of the resource efficiency signal was highlighted in the first quarter as almost all of the 
Fund’s positive return was attributable to the stock-specific exposures. There was a significant factor rotation out of 
quality and into value over the quarter. While the strong quality bias that the Fund exhibits led to some negative 
returns, the stock-specific exposure drove the Fund’s total return positive, demonstrating the resilience of the 
resource-efficiency factor during factor rotations in the market. 
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT – Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
(Continued) 

The North American portion of the Fund delivered -0.73% (gross) over the period. Meanwhile, the EMEA exposure 
was positive for performance, contributing 5.46% (gross). The APAC holdings reduced return by -0.35% (gross). 
From a sector perspective, there were some strong performances from the health care and industrials sectors, 
delivering 4.67% (gross) and 1.50% (gross), respectively. The EMEA health care companies provided 3.29% 
(gross) of return for the quarter. However, a reduction in return from the utilities and IT sectors detracted -2.39% 
and -0.69% (gross), respectively. In particular, the EMEA utility companies reduced returns by -2.21% (gross). 

The long book generated negative returns within the quarter, while the short book added returns. When attributing 
the long and short book returns, the stock specific/idiosyncratic factor generated positive returns within the longs of 
0.32% (gross) and 5.59% (gross) in the shorts. The negative common factor return of the longs more than offset the 
shorts' positive common factor returns resulting in a residual negative -1.93% contribution (gross). 

Q2 2022 

The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund registered negative absolute returns of -2.51% in Q2 
as markets plunged to new lows. In comparison, the HFRX Equity Market Neutral Index (an index representative of 
the overall composition of the hedge fund universe) fell by -2.49% over the period. The Market Neutral Fund had a 
beta of -0.05 to the MSCI World* during the quarter, while the HFRX Equity Market Neutral** had a beta of -0.01. 
Concerns around inflation and the ensuing higher-interest rate environment meant that the previous quarter’s price 
correction continued into this quarter. Whilst the MSCI Value Index outperformed the growth index again, they 
both saw sharp falls in the quarter. All of MSCI’s major factor indexes ended in the red, with only the high dividend 
yield and minimum volatility indexes resulting in single-digit losses over the period.  

The fiscal tightening provided alpha for the short book as companies with weak balance sheets and high valuations 
saw large falls in the quarter as the correction continued. Furthermore, with the fears of recession sinking in for 
companies, poor earnings and forecasts were met with steep sell-offs as companies struggle to control their inflating 
input costs.  

During the quarter, there was a slight negative exposure to the oil and gas sector, leading to some negative 
performance. A negative exposure to the Spanish and Hong Kong markets also detracted from returns. A surprising 
result of the quarter was that the Fund’s underweight position to higher leveraged companies hurt performance. As 
interest rates continue to rise our expectation is that these higher-levered companies will see increased pressure from 
the market as their borrowing costs increase. The underweight position in the Fund should therefore start to be 
rewarded as these companies become less attractive to investors. The profitability bias of the Fund led to positive 
gains over the quarter.  

The stock-specific exposure detracted from return as long positions in highly resource efficient companies were 
penalised as the general market fell. Whilst the short positions in inefficient companies generated positive returns 
from the short book, this was not enough to neutralise the effects of the global market sell-off.  

The North American portion of the Fund delivered -0.92% (gross) over the period, while the EMEA exposure 
contributed -2.08% (gross) and the APAC holdings contributed 0.71% (gross). From a sector perspective, there 
were some strong performances from the IT and communication services sectors, delivering 2.15% (gross) and 
0.72% (gross), respectively. The APAC IT companies provided a 2.13% (gross) return for the quarter. However, a 
reduction in return from the health care and industrials sectors detracted -2.05% and -1.97% (gross), respectively. In 
particular, the EMEA health care companies reduced returns by - 1.73% (gross).  
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT – Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
(Continued) 

The long book generated negative returns within the quarter, while the short book added returns. When attributing 
the long and short book returns, the stock specific/idiosyncratic factor generated negative returns within the longs of 
-2.48% (gross) and a positive 1.24% (gross) in the shorts. The negative common factor return of the longs more
than offset the shorts' positive common factor returns resulting in a residual negative contribution (- 1.26% gross).

Net Country Allocation of strategy (ex cash - as of 30th June 2022): 

Equity Net Sector Allocation  

Sector MoRE World Resource Efficiency Fund – 
Sustainable Market Neutral 

Communication Services 1.10% 
Consumer Discretionary -0.26%
Consumer Staples -1.23%
Energy -0.15%
Financials 0.00% 
Health Care 0.10% 
Industrials -1.04%
Information Technology 1.39% 
Materials -0.15%
Real Estate 0.00% 
Utilities 0.23% 
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REPORT – Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral 
Fund (continued) 

Net Country Allocation of strategy (ex cash - as of 30th June 2022): 

Country Net Allocation 

Country MoRE World Resource Efficiency Fund – 
Sustainable Market Neutral 

USA -0.14%
Canada 0.09% 

UK -0.03%
Switzerland 0.01% 
Spain -0.85%
Netherlands 0.19% 
France 1.74% 
Germany -1.20%
Belgium 1.10% 
Sweden 0.54% 
Austria -0.33%
Denmark 0.02% 
Italy -0.34%
Ireland -0.24%
Norway 0.03% 
Finland 0.17% 
Portugal -0.48%
Israel 0.00% 

Japan -0.21%
Hong Kong -0.13%
Australia 0.03% 
Singapore 0.02% 
New Zealand 0.00% 

Osmosis Investment Management UK Limited 
19 October 2022 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2022 

O smosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund

O smosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund
30 June 2022 30 June 2021

Notes US$ US$
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit  or loss:
- Transferable securities 8 48,349,860 64,033,448
- Financial derivative instruments 8 3,508,525 3,814,744
Cash and cash equivalents 6 446,876 665,913
Margin Cash 6 17,070 233,844
Securities Sold Receivable - 1,770,441
Capital Shares Receivable - 48,177
Other assets 3,358 11,805
Total assets 52,325,689 70,578,372

Liabilities
Financial liabilit ies at fair value through profit  or loss:
- Financial derivative instruments 8 (2,576,237) (1,980,014)
Securities Purchased Payable (5,240,830) (4,387,516)
Capital Shares Payable - (29,785)

Accrued expenses:
- Dividend expense (143,429) (20,814)
- Investment Manager's fee payable 3,9 (56,108) (42,644)
- Management fee payable 3,9 (9,973) (11,456)
- Administrator fees payable 3 (20,383) (15,781)
- Depositary fees payable 3 (8,236) (6,318)
- Legal fees payable (24,324) (19,920)
- Other liabilit ies (155,766) (150,861)
Total accrued expenses (418,219) (267,794)

Total liabilities excluding net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable participating shares (8,235,286) (6,665,109)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares 44,090,403 63,913,263

Signed on behalf of the Directors of the ICAV on 19 October 2022 by: 

Director  

Director  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

O smosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund

O smosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund
30 June 2022 30 June 2021

Notes US$ US$
Income
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilit ies at fair value 
through profit  or loss 4 297,065 (131,084)
Dividend income 992,399 952,749
Other income 14,499 6,449
Net investment income 1,303,963 828,114

Expenses
Investment Manager's fee 3,9 (415,186) (473,933)
Dividend expense (1,388,945) (1,859,366)
Management fee 3,9 (43,849) (46,558)
Administrator fees 3 (59,999) (59,999)
Depositary fees 3 (24,999) (24,999)
Director fees 3,9 (14,461) (10,449)
Other expenses (149,229) (170,113)
Total operating expenses (2,096,668) (2,645,417)

Net losses from operations before tax (792,705) (1,817,303)

Taxation
Withholding tax (286,969) (317,786)
Loss after tax (1,079,674) (2,135,089)

Decrease in net assets attributable  to redeemable 
participating shares for the year (1,079,674) (2,135,089)

Gains and losses arose solely from continuing operations. There were no gains or losses other than those dealt 
with in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Signed on behalf of the Directors of the ICAV on 19 October 2022 by: 

Director  

Director 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE 
PARTICIPATING SHARES 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

O smosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund

O smosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund
30 June 2022 30 June 2021

Note US$ US$

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares at the beginning of the year 63,913,263 62,965,006 

Decrease in net assets attributable to shareholders (1,079,674) (2,135,089)

Issue of redeemable participating shares during the year 5 993,906 3,802,580 

Redemption of redeemable participating shares during the year 5 (19,737,092) (719,234)

Net assets attributable  to holders of redeemable 
participating shares at the end of the year⁺ 44,090,403 63,913,263 

 
⁺Shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option and are classified as liability. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

 Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund 

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund
30 June 2022 30 June 2021

Note US$ US$
Cash flows from operating activities

Decrease in net assets attributable to redeemable 
participating shares for the year (1,079,674)                  (2,135,089)

Adjusted for:
Realised loss/(gain) on sale of investments (5,269,250)                  2,905,589
Unrealised loss/(gain) on investments 7,015,831                   (659,384)
Income on dividends and amortisation (12,101)                       (17,310)
Decrease in dividends, interest 
and reclaims receivable -                              44,617
Increase/(Decrease) in gains from forward contracts and 
contracts for difference 902,442                      (2,085,668)
Decrease in other assets 8,447                          2,167
Increase/(Decrease) in accrued expenses 150,425                      (182,449)

Payment on purchase of investments (245,888,178)              (390,574,154)
Proceeds from sale of investments 262,461,040               390,228,705
Net cash outflow from operating activities 18,288,982                 (2,472,976)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of redeemable shares 1,042,083                   3,787,298
Payments for redemptions of redeemable shares (19,766,876)                (689,506)
Net cash provided by financing activities (18,724,793)                3,097,792

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (435,811)                     624,816

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 899,757                      274,941

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 463,946                      899,757

Supplementary cash flow information
Cash flows from operating activities include:
Cash received during the year for dividend income 2,720,023                   2,084,038
Cash paid during the year for dividend expense (3,174,571)                  (3,182,067)
Cash received during the year for bank interest income 1,854                          9
Cash paid during the year for bank interest expense (13,901)                       (2,741)
Cash paid for withholding tax (286,969)                     (317,786)

(753,564)                     (1,418,547)  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

1. Background to the ICAV  
 
Osmosis ICAV (formerly Prescient ICAV) (the “ICAV”) was authorised in Ireland on 7 April 2017 and 
commenced operations on 23 April 2017 as an investment company with variable capital structured as an 
umbrella Fund with segregated liability between Sub-Funds pursuant to the Irish Collective Asset-management 
Vehicle Act 2015 (the “Act”) with the launch of Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund (the 
“Sub-Fund”).  
 
The Sub-Fund, launched on 3 August 2018. It is authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland (the “Central Bank”) 
pursuant to the provisions of the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011 as amended, (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the Central Bank 
(Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019, as amended. 
 
The ICAV was registered on 1 February 2017, with registration number C165916.  
 
The ICAV is structured as an umbrella type vehicle which may consist of different Sub-Funds, each comprising 
one or more Share Classes. As at the date of this report there were two Sub-Funds in operation:  
 
- Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund  
- Osmosis Resource Efficient Core Equity Fund  
 
These Financial Statements are the Financial Statement for the Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market 
Neutral Fund. A separate set of Financial Statements in prepared for the Osmosis Resource Efficient Core 
Equity Fund. 
 
Under the Act, it is permissible to have separate sets of financial statements for each Sub-Fund. As such, these 
financial statements only relate to the Sub-Fund. These Financial Statements are available free of charge on 
request from the Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Manager”). 
 
Investment objective and policy  
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund  
The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to deliver a market neutral portfolio with a focus on resource 
efficiency and which seeks to outperform ICE Libor 1 Month USD (the “Benchmark”). 
 
In order to achieve its objective, the Sub-Fund will primarily invest in and gain exposure to equity or equity-
related securities listed or traded on Regulated Exchanges. Equities and equity-related securities to which the 
Sub-Fund may invest in and gain exposure to, include, but are not limited, to common stock, preference and 
convertible preference shares, american depositary receipts and global depository receipts, warrants and rights 
(which are issued by a company to allow holders to subscribe for additional securities issued by that company 
and that do not embed derivatives). 
 
The Sub-Fund may gain exposure to equity or equity-related securities either directly by acquiring such 
securities or through the use of financial derivative instruments (“FDI’s”) for direct investment purposes by 
taking synthetic long and / or synthetic short positions. Synthetic long and / or synthetic short positions will be 
achieved by using total return swaps ("TRS") to create obligations of the Sub-Fund equivalent to direct long and 
/ or direct short positions (it being noted that the Sub-Fund is not permitted to short directly). While TRS will 
principally be used to create these positions, the Investment Manager may also use swaps (which enable the 
Sub-Fund and a trading counterparty to exchange periodic cash payments based on the performance of an 
underlying equity or equity-related security). 
 
The Sub-Fund may use FDI’s as set out under ICAV’s Prospectus and Sub-Fund’s Supplement, for investment 
and/or efficient portfolio management purposes in order to achieve the investment objective of the Sub-Fund. At 
times the Sub-Fund may be exclusively invested in the FDIs listed. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies  
 

Statement of compliance 
These audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union ("IFRS") and interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") 2022, and with the requirements of the Act 
and pursuant to the provisions of the UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) 
Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 2019, 
as amended (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”). 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements for the Sub-Fund are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) and interpretations adopted by the IASB, and with the 
requirements of the ICAV Act. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the financial period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
All references to Net Assets throughout this document refer to Net Assets Attributable to Holders of 
Redeemable Participating Shares, unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 
The directors have considered all factors such as the financial and operating performance of the Sub-Fund, 
nature of the assets and liquidity of portfolio, investor concentration and pipeline of the Sub-Fund which 
contribute to the Sub-Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors are satisfied that, for a period 
of at least twelve months from the date of approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the Sub-Fund.  
 
The presentation and functional currency of the Sub-Fund is United States dollar (“US$”). 
 
Accounting Standards 
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued and effective for financial periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2021. 
 
There are no standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for annual periods 
beginning on 1 July 2021 that have a material effect on the financial statements of the Sub-Fund. 
 
(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective for financial periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2021 and have not been early adopted. 
 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are issued but not yet effective for 
annual periods beginning after 1 July 2021, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial 
statements. None of these are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Sub-Fund. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimates and Judgements  
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are  
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances the result of which forms the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised, if 
the revision affects only that year, or the year of the revision and the future period if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 
 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in tax laws on 
foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences arising between the 
actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate 
future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Sub-Fund establishes provisions, based on reasonable 
estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it 
invests. 
 
The amounts of such provisions are based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and 
differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such 
differences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the 
respective investment’s domicile. As the Sub-Fund assesses the probability for litigation and subsequent cash 
outflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent liability has been recognised. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined below. 
 

(a) Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
The Sub-Fund holds derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets, such as over-the-
counter derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined by using valuation techniques. Where 
valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically 
reviewed by experienced personnel of the Manager and Northern Trust International Fund Administration 
Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”), independent of the party that created them.  
 

(b) Fair value of securities not quoted in an active market  
The fair value of such securities not quoted in an active market may be determined by the Sub-Fund using 
reputable pricing sources (such as pricing agencies) or indicative prices from market makers. Broker quotes as 
obtained from the pricing sources may be indicative and not executable or binding.  
 

The ICAV would exercise judgement on the quantity and quality of pricing sources used. Where no market data 
is available, the Sub-Fund may value positions using their own models, which are usually based on valuation 
methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. The models used to determine fair 
values are validated and periodically reviewed by experienced personnel at the Administrator, independent of 
the party that created them. Models use observable data, to the extent practicable. However, areas such as credit 
risk (both own and counterparty); volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Changes 
in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The 
determination of what constitutes observable requires significant judgement by the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund 
considers observable data to be market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable 
and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant 
market.  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Estimates and Judgements (continued) 
 
Functional currency translation  
 

(i) Functional and presentation currency  
Amounts included in the Sub-Fund’s financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which it operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currency for the Sub-
Fund is US$ as the currency of the issued shares and the majority of the investments are in US equities. 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances  
Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within net realised and change in 
unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the foreign currency exchange 
rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to US$ at the foreign currency closing exchange rate ruling at the Statement of Financial Position 
date. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or 
settlements of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to 
US$ at the foreign currency exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values were determined. 
 
Investments at fair value  
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
 
(A) Financial instruments  
 
(i) Classification, Recognition and Derecognition 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Sub-Fund classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial 
recognition into the categories of financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below. In applying that 
classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for trading if: 
 

(a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term  
Or  
(b) On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed 

together and for which, there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking  
Or  
(c)  It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 

effective hedging instrument)  
 
Financial assets  
The Sub-Fund classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at fair value 
through profit or loss on the basis of both:  
 

• The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets  
• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset 

 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost  
A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates  to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The Sub-Fund 
includes in this category short-term non-financing receivables including cash and cash equivalents, margin cash 
and other receivables.   
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Investments at fair value (continued) 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 
 
(A) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(i) Classification, Recognition and Derecognition (continued) 
 
Financial assets (continued) 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  
 
A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if:  
 

(a) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding  
Or  

(b) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to 
both collect contractual cash flows and sell  
Or  

(c) At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVPL when doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from 
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.  

 
The Sub-Fund includes in this category:  
 

• Equity instruments: Included within equity instruments are investments in subsidiaries and associates:  
o Investment in subsidiaries: in accordance with the exception under IFRS 10, the Sub-Fund 

does not consolidate subsidiaries in the financial statements unless the subsidiary is not itself 
an investment entity and its main purpose and activities are providing services that relate to 
the Sub-Fund’s investment activities. The Sub-Fund has no consolidated subsidiaries. The 
Sub-Fund measures unconsolidated subsidiaries (including loans to subsidiaries) at FVPL.  

• Debt instruments. These include investments that are held under a business model to manage them on a 
fair value basis for investment income and fair value gains.  

• Instruments held for trading. This category includes equity instruments and debt instruments which are 
acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price. This 
category also includes derivative contracts in an asset position. 
 

Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 
 
A financial liability is measured at FVPL if it meets the definition of held for trading.  
 
The Sub-Fund includes in this category, derivative contracts in a liability position and equity and debt 
instruments sold short since they are classified as held for trading. The Sub-Fund also includes its redeemable 
shares in this category and the Sub-Fund’s accounting policy regarding the redeemable participating shares is 
described in Note 8. 
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
Investments at fair value (continued) 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 
 
(A) Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(i) Classification, Recognition and Derecognition (continued) 
 
Financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  
 
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss. The 
Sub-Fund includes in this category contracts for difference. 
The Sub-Fund classified all its investments as financial instruments held for trading and financial assets at 
amortised cost. 
 
Derecognition 
 
The Sub-Fund derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Sub-Fund neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the 
financial asset. The Sub-Fund derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expired. On derecognition of a financial asset or liability, the difference between the carrying 
amount and consideration is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
(ii) Measurement 
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value (transaction price) plus in the case of a financial asset 
or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately, while on other financial instruments they 
are amortised. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value with changes in their fair value recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in 
which they arise. 
 
Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less impairment, if any. 
 
Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised cost. 
 
(iii)  Fair Value Measurement Principles 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and trading securities) are based on quoted market 
prices at the close of trading on the reporting date. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Investments at fair value (continued) 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued) 
 

(iii)  Fair Value Measurement Principles (continued) 
 
Securities which are quoted, listed or traded on a Recognised Exchange will be valued at the last traded price on 
the principal exchange or market (or if the last traded price is not available, at midmarket prices). Where a 
security is listed or dealt in on more than one Recognised Exchange the relevant exchange or market shall be the 
principal stock exchange or market on which the security is listed or dealt on or the exchange or market which 
the Responsible Person determine provides the fairest criteria in determining a value for the relevant investment. 
Securities listed or traded on a Recognised Exchange, but acquired or traded at a premium or at a discount 
outside or off the relevant exchange or market may be valued by a competent person, firm or corporation 
(including the Investment Manager) selected by the Responsible Person and approved for the purpose by the 
depositary, taking into account the level of premium or discount at the Valuation Point provided that the 
depositary shall be satisfied that the adoption of such a procedure is justifiable in the context of establishing the 
probable realisation value of the security. As at 30 June 2022 there were no such securities held by the Sub-
Fund (30 June 2021: None). 
 
The value of any security which is not quoted, listed or dealt in on a Recognised Exchange or which is so 
quoted, listed or dealt but for which no such quotation or value is available or the available quotation or value is 
not representative of the fair market value shall be the probable realisation value as estimated with care and 
good faith by: 
 
(i) the Responsible Person; or 

 

(ii) a competent person, firm or corporation (including the Investment Manager) selected by the 
Responsible Person and  approved  for  the  purpose by the depositary. 

 

(iii) any other means provided that the value is approved by the depositary. 
 

Where reliable market quotations are not available for fixed income securities the value of such securities may 
be determined using matrix methodology compiled by the Responsible Person or a competent person appointed 
by the Responsible Person and approved by the depositary whereby such securities are valued by reference to 
the valuation of other securities which are comparable in rating, yield, due date and other characteristics. 
 

Management considers the Net Asset Value of underlying funds to be representative of fair value as they can be 
traded at this value. Fair values for unquoted equity investments are estimated, if possible, using applicable price 
/ earnings ratios for similar listed companies adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer. 
 

(iv) Offsetting Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position 
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Dividend and interest income  
Dividend income relating to investments is recognised in profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on the ex-dividend date. Interest income on fixed and floating rate notes is accounted for on an effective  
interest rate basis. Income distributions from investment funds are recognised in profit or loss in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income as dividend income when declared. Dividend income is shown gross of any 
irrecoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the profit and loss account, and net of any tax 
credits. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term 
investments in an active market with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.  
 
Margin cash  
Cash collateral provided by the Sub-Funds to a counterparty in relation to contracts for differences, equity swaps 
and credit default swaps are identified in the Statement of Financial Position as margin cash. Cash pledged as 
collateral for financial derivative instrument transactions is not included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position and is not available to the Sub-Funds on demand. Margin cash 
is valued at amortised cost plus accrued interest. The initial margin is the percentage of a purchase price that 
must be paid with cash using a margin account. The variation margin also known as the mark to market margin 
is the additional amount of cash that the Company is required to deposit with the clearing house to meet the 
minimum margin requirement.  
 
Receivables  
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Receivables are recognised initially at amortised cost plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acquisition and subsequently measured at amortised cost.  
 
Payables  
Payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.  
 
Distribution policy  
The Directors may, if it thinks fit, declare and pay such Gross Income Payments in respect of any shares in the 
Sub-Fund as appear to the Directors to be justified with respect to any sub-fund or class. The Directors or 
Manager may, in its absolute discretion, differentiate between the shares in any sub-fund and shares in the share 
class within the same sub-fund as to the Gross Income Payment declared on such shares. The Directors shall 
have the absolute right to decide whether a Gross Income Payment shall be made or not. The shareholders are 
absolutely entitled to the income of the relevant sub-fund as it arises. The Gross Income Payment policy for 
each sub-fund shall be set out in the Supplement to the Prospectus. Distributions for the year for the Sub-Fund 
amounted to US$Nil (30 June 2021: US$Nil).  
 
Redeemable Participating Shares 
Shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option and are classified as liability. In accordance with IFRS, a 
determination is made on the classification of these shares as to whether to treat as equity or liability. This 
determination is made at a fund level. Single class funds are treated as equity as they represent residual interest 
in the assets of the fund after deducting all liabilities and multi-class funds are treated as liability as no single 
share class has such residual interest. A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for 
the Sub-Fund to repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as equity if 
it meets all of the following conditions:  
 

• It entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the sub-fund’s net assets in the event of the sub-fund’s liquidation;  
• It is in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;  
• All financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments have 

identical features;  
• Apart from the contractual obligation for the sub-fund to repurchase or redeem the instrument for cash or 

another financial asset, the instrument does not include any other features that would require classification as a 
equity; and  

• The total expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based substantially on the profit or 
loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change in the fair value in the recognised and unrecognised 
net assets of the sub-fund over the life of the instrument.  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Investments at fair value (continued) 
 
Redeemable Participating Shares (continued) 
The Sub-Fund has two classes in issuance, which are redeemable at the holder’s option. Such shares are 
classified as liability. Shares can be put back to the Sub-Fund at any dealing date for cash equal to a 
proportionate share of the Sub-Funds’ net asset value attributable to the share class.  
 
Shares are issued and repurchased at the holder’s option at prices based on the Sub-Fund’s Net Asset Value per 
share at the time of issue or repurchase. The Sub-Fund’s Net Asset Value per share is calculated by dividing the 
net assets attributable to the shareholders by the total number of outstanding shares in the class.  
 
Operating expenses  
The Sub-Fund is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees, stamp and other duties and 
charges incurred on the acquisition and realisation of investments. Osmosis Investment Management UK 
Limited (the “Investment Manager”) meets all other operating expenses incurred by it in connection with its 
services. Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Dividend expense is recognised on the ex-dividend 
date.  
 
Transaction costs  
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a 
financial asset or liability. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not 
acquired, issued or disposed of the financial instrument.  
 
Taxation  
The ICAV will not be liable for tax in respect of its income and gains, other than on the occurrence of a 
chargeable event. A chargeable event includes any distribution or any redemption or transfer of Shares. 
 
A chargeable event does not include: 
i)  Any transactions in relation to Redeemable Participating Shares held in a recognised clearing system as 

designated by order of the Revenue Commissioners of Ireland; or, 
ii)  An exchange of Redeemable Participating Shares representing one sub-fund for another sub-fund of the 

ICAV; or, 
iii)  An exchange of Redeemable Participating Shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or 
 reconstruction of the ICAV with another sub-fund. 

A chargeable event will not occur in respect of Redeemable Participating Shareholders who are neither resident 
nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and who have provided the ICAV with a relevant declaration to that effect. 
There were no chargeable events during the financial year. 
 
In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the ICAV will be liable for Irish tax on the occurrence of a 
chargeable event and the ICAV reserves its right to withhold such taxes from payments to relevant shareholders. 
 
Capital gains, dividends and interest received may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of 
origin and such taxes may not be recoverable by the ICAV or its Shareholders. A chargeable event includes any 
distribution payment to shareholders or any encashment, redemption or transfer of shares or an ending of a 
Relevant Period. 
 
Establishment costs  
Fees and expenses relating to the establishment and organisation of the Sub-Fund, including the fees of the Sub-
Fund’s professional advisers and registering the shares are written off in full in the first accounting period of the 
Sub-Fund in accordance with the requirements of IFRS. This differs from the treatment set out in the Prospectus 
of the Sub-Fund, which is to amortise the establishment expenses over the first five accounting periods of the 
Sub-Fund.
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Realised and unrealised gains and losses  
Net gains and losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised and 
unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, but excludes interest and dividend income, 
which are presented separately.  
 
Net realised gains from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using the average 
cost method. 
 
Forward Currency Contracts  
The unrealised gain or loss on open forward foreign exchange contracts, if any, is calculated by reference to the 
difference between the contracted rate and the rate to close out the contract. Unrealised gains and losses are 
included in the Statement of Financial Position. Realised gains or losses, which are recognised on the maturity 
of a contract, include net gains on contracts which have been settled or offset by other contracts. Realised gains 
or losses and changes in unrealised gains or losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Futures Contracts 
Futures contracts are valued at the quoted daily settlement prices established by the exchange on which they 
trade. The ICAV and the broker agree to exchange an amount of cash equal to the daily fluctuation in the value 
of the futures contract. Such receipts or payments are known as “variation margin”. For open futures, changes in 
the value of the contract are recognised as unrealised profits or losses by “marking-to market” the value of the 
contract at Statement of Financial Position date. 
 

3. Fees and Expenses  

Management fee 
The Manager shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Sub-Fund:  
(i) an annual fee of US$15,000 (the “Fixed Component”). 
(ii)  the annual management fees as detailed in the table below, accrued and calculated at each Valuation 

Point (the “Variable Component”). The Fixed Component shall be payable to the Manager with respect 
to risk management services required as part of the long/short investment strategy of the Sub-Fund, as 
detailed above.  

 

 
Such total annual management fee, i.e. the sum of the Fixed Component and the Variable Component, shall be 
subject to a minimum annual fee of US$40,000, plus VAT, if any. Such management fee shall be payable 
monthly in arrears. The Manager is entitled to increase its Management Fees up to a maximum of 0.2% per 
annum of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund. Shareholders will be notified in writing in advance of any 
proposed increase of such fees up to such maximum. The Manager shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the 
ICAV for reasonable out of pocket expenses incurred and any VAT on all fees and expenses payable to or by 
the ICAV. 
 
The Manager may rebate all or part of its Management Fees to any shareholder, it being acknowledged that such 
rebate, if any, may differ between shareholders and that the Manager will have ultimate discretion in this matter. 
A non-exhaustive list of criteria for the consideration of such rebates may be initial offer period subscriptions, 
size of investment and prior relationship with the shareholder. 
 
 

Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund Annual Management Fee - Variable Component 
From US$0 to US$100 million 0.05% 
From US$100 million to US$250 million 0.04% 
In excess of US$250 million 0.03% 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

3. Fees and Expenses (continued) 

Management fee (continued) 
All fees charged by the Manager are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Management fees charged for the year ended 30 June 2022 were US$43,849 (30 June 2021: US$46,558) of 
which US$9,973 was due to the Manager as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: US$11,456).  
 

Investment Management fee 
The Investment Manager shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Sub-Fund the following annual fee, 
together with any VAT, if applicable, in respect to each Class. The fee payable to the Investment Manager will 
be calculated and accrued daily based on the daily Net Asset Value of the relevant Class and will be paid 
monthly in arrears. 
 

Class Investment Management fee Performance fee 
Class A* 0.75% of the Net Asset Value 

attributable to each Class A Share. 
None. 

Class B* 0.75% of the Net Asset Value 
attributable to each Class B Share. 

None. 

Class C* 1.00% of the Net Asset Value 
attributable to each Class C 
Share. 

Performance fee may be charged. 
15% of the amount, if any, by 
which the Net Asset Value of the 
relevant Share Class exceeds the 
High Watermark of such Share 
Class on the last Valuation Day of 
the Performance Period.   

Class D* 1.25% of the Net Asset Value 
attributable to each Class D 
Share. 

Performance fee may be charged. 
10% of the amount, if any, by 
which the Net Asset Value of the 
relevant Share Class exceeds the 
High Watermark of such Share 
Class on the last Valuation Day of 
the Performance Period.   

Class E 1.75% of the Net Asset Value 
attributable to each Class E Share. 

None. 

 

*As at 30 June 2022 Class A, Class B, Class C and Class D were the active classes. 
 

The Investment Manager is entitled to increase its annual fees (other than Performance Fees) up to a maximum 
of 2.00% per annum of the Net Asset Value attributable to each Class. Shareholders will be notified in writing in 
advance of any proposed increase of such fees up to such maximum. 
 

The Investment Manager may rebate all or part of its investment management / performance fees to any 
shareholder, it being acknowledged that such rebate, if any, may differ between shareholders and that the 
Investment Manager will have ultimate discretion in this matter. A non-exhaustive list of criteria for the 
consideration of such rebates may be initial offer period subscriptions, size of investment and prior relationship 
with the shareholder. 
 

All fees charged by the Investment Manager are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Investment Management fees charged for the year ended 30 June 2022 were US$415,186 (30 June 
2021: US$473,933) of which US$56,108 was due to the Investment Manager as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: 
US$42,644).  
 

Performance fee 
The Investment Manager’s entitlement to performance fees for each share class of the Sub-Fund is outlined in 
the table above. The performance fee for the year was US$Nil (30 June 2021: US$Nil), of which US$Nil (30 
June 2021: US$Nil) was due to the Investment Manager as at 30 June 2022.  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

3. Fees and Expenses (continued) 

Administrator fee 
Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Administrator”) shall be 
entitled to receive out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, an annual fee which (plus VAT, if any) as detailed in the 
table below, is accrued and calculated at each Valuation Point and payable monthly in arrears, subject to a 
minimum annual fee of US$75,000. 
 

Fund Administration Fee per Annum 
Net Asset Value US$ 0 to US$250 million 0.06% 
Net Asset Value US$ 250 million to US$500 million 0.04% 
In excess of US$500 million 0.02% 
 
The Administrator shall also be compensated out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for other services, including inter 
alia transfer agency services, account maintenance, share currency hedging facilities, preparation of financial 
statements of the ICAV, registration and transaction fees, each of which shall be at normal commercial rates 
together with VAT, if any, thereon. The Administrator shall also be entitled to reimbursement of all reasonable 
and vouched out-of-pocket expenses (plus any applicable taxes) it incurs out of the assets of the Sub-Fund. 
 
Administrator fees incurred by the Sub-Fund are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Administrator fees incurred for the year ended 30 June 2022 were US$59,999 (30 June 2021: 
US$59,999) of which US$20,383 was due to the Administrator as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: US$15,781).  
 
Depositary fees 
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Depositary”) shall be entitled to receive out of the 
assets of the Sub-Fund, an annual fee (plus VAT, if any) as detailed in the table below, accrued and calculated at 
each Valuation Point and payable monthly in arrears. 
 
Depositary Fee per Annum 
Net Asset Value US$0 to US$250 million 0.02% 
Net Asset Value above US$250 million 0.015% 
 
The Depositary shall also be entitled to be repaid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for all of its reasonable 
disbursements incurred on behalf of the Sub-Fund, including the safe-keeping fees and expenses of any sub-
custodian (which shall be at normal commercial rates) and transaction charges (which shall also be at normal 
commercial rates) levied by the Depositary or any sub-custodian and any applicable taxes it incurs on behalf of 
the Sub-Fund. Such custody fees shall accrue and be payable monthly in arrears. 
 
Depositary fees incurred by the Sub-Fund are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Depositary fees for the year ended 30 June 2022 were US$24,999 (30 June 2021: US$24,999) of which 
US$8,236 was due to the Depositary as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: US$6,318).  
 
Directors’ fees 
The ICAV authorises the Directors to charge a fee for their services at a rate determined by the Directors. Each 
Director shall receive a fee for their services up to a maximum of EUR40,000 per annum, or such other amount 
as may from time to time be disclosed in the Annual Report of the ICAV. Any increase above the maximum 
permitted fee will be notified in advance to shareholders. Mr. Millerd and Mr. Steyn are not entitled to receive a 
Director’s fee. Each Director may be entitled to special remuneration if called upon to perform any special or 
extra services to the ICAV, details of which will be set out in the financial statements of the Sub-Fund. All 
Directors will be entitled to reimbursement by the Sub-Fund of expenses properly incurred in connection with 
the business of the ICAV or the discharge of their duties. 
 
Fees charged by the Directors are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Director fees 
for the year are US$14,461 (30 June 2021: US$10,449), of which US$Nil (30 June 2021: US$Nil) was due to 
the Directors as at 30 June 2022. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 

 
4.  Net (Losses)/Gains on Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund
30/06/2022 30/06/2021

US$ US$
Realised gains on investments 59,405,109 69,503,363
Realised losses on investments (54,120,760) (72,408,514)
Realised gains on currency 7,320,965 4,529,068
Realised losses on currency (5,015,900) (4,689,973)
Unrealised gains on investments 5,283,380 14,026,361
Unrealised losses on investments (13,848,675) (11,483,824)
Unrealised gains on currencies 1,277,615 410,462
Unrealised losses on currencies (4,669) (18,027)

297,065 (131,084)
 

 
Transaction costs  
Transaction costs included in realised and unrealised gain/loss on investments are as follows: 

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund
30/06/2022 30/06/2021

US$ US$
Transaction costs 21,193 36,905

 
 
5. Shares in issue  
 

Shares of the ICAV shall be divided into 500,000,000,000 (five hundred billion) ordinary participating shares of 
no nominal value (“Participating Shares”) and 300,000 (three hundred thousand) non-participating Management 
Shares of no par value (“Management Shares”).  
 

The ICAV is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

5. Shares in issue (continued) 
 

There are currently four classes of redeemable participating shares in issue in the Sub-Fund, Class A, Class B, 
Class C and Class D. During the year ended 30 June 2022, the numbers of shares issued and outstanding were as 
follows: 
 

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
Shares - Class A Shares - Class B

By shares: 30/06/2022 30/06/2022
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year 3,911,460 2,417,182
Shares issued during the year - 95,347
Shares redeemed during the year - (2,039,885)
Fee rebate 609 2,216
Shares in issue at the end of the year 3,912,069 474,860

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
Shares - Class C Shares - Class D

By shares: 30/06/2022 30/06/2022
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year 55,402 1,097
Shares issued during the year 1,734 -
Shares redeemed during the year (3,562) -
Shares in issue at the end of the year 53,574 1,097

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
Shares - Class A Shares - Class B

By shares: 30/06/2021 30/06/2021
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year 3,916,472 2,175,707
Shares issued during the year 554 305,050
Shares redeemed during the year (5,566) (63,575)
Shares in issue at the end of the year 3,911,460 2,417,182  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

5. Shares in issue (continued) 
 

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
Shares - Class C* Shares - Class D*

By shares: 30/06/2021 30/06/2021
Shares in issue at the beginning of the year - -
Shares issued during the year 57,171 1,097
Shares redeemed during the year (1,769) -
Shares in issue at the end of the year 55,402 1,097

 
*Class C and Class D were launched on 15 September 2020. 
 
 

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
US$ - Class A US$ - Class B

By value: 30/06/2022 30/06/2022

- 944,827

- (19,693,917)                    

Fee rebate 6,052 21,945                             

6,052 (18,727,145)

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
US$ - Class C US$ - Class D

By value: 30/06/2022 30/06/2022

21,082 -

(43,175)                           -

(22,093) -

Value of redeemable participating shares 
issued during the year

Value of redeemable participating shares 
issued during the year
Value of redeemable participating shares 
redeemed during the year

Net value of redeemable participating 
shares issued during the year

Value of redeemable participating shares 
redeemed during the year
Net value of redeemable participating 
shares issued during the year
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

5. Shares in issue (continued) 
 

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
US$ - Class A US$ - Class B

By value: 30/06/2021 30/06/2021

5,629 3,073,473

(58,008) (639,936)

(52,379) 2,433,537

Osmosis Resource Osmosis Resource
Efficient Equity Efficient Equity

Market Neutral Fund Market Neutral Fund
US$ - Class C* US$ - Class D*

By value: 30/06/2021 30/06/2021

710,474 13,004

(21,290) -
689,184 13,004

Value of redeemable participating shares 
issued during the year

Value of redeemable participating shares 
issued during the year
Value of redeemable participating shares 
redeemed during the year
Net value of redeemable participating 

Value of redeemable participating shares 
redeemed during the year
Net value of redeemable participating 
shares issued during the year

 
 
*Class C and Class D were launched on 15 September 2020. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

5. Shares in issue (continued) 

 
Significant shareholdings 
During the year, the Sub-Fund had one significant shareholders, Stiching IMAS Foundation Fund, owning 
81.09% (30 June 2021: 84.84%) of the total shares in the Sub-Fund. 
 

Currency Total NAV
No. of Equity 

Shares
NAV Per       

Share

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 

Market Neutral Fund
As at 30/06/2022
Class A US$ 38,747,548 3,912,069 9.90 38,747,548
Class B US$ 4,680,779 474,860 9.86 4,680,779
Class C GBP 649,803 53,574 12.13 649,803
Class D EUR 12,273 1,097 11.19 12,273

As at 30/06/2021
Class A US$ 39,146,413 3,911,460 10.01 39,146,413
Class B US$ 24,075,448 2,417,182 9.96 24,075,448
Class C** GBP 491,513 55,402 8.87 491,513
Class D** EUR 10,457 1,097 9.53 10,457  
 
**Class C and Class D were launched on 15 September 2020. 
 
Redemption of shares  
Every shareholder will have the right to require the Manager to redeem their shares on any dealing day meaning 
every Wednesday or the next following Business Day if such day is not a Business Day (save during any period 
when the calculation of the Net Asset Value is suspended) on furnishing to the Manager a redemption request. 
In accordance with anti-money laundering regulations no redemption proceeds will be paid to redeeming 
shareholders unless the Manager is in possession of the full completed original application form and appropriate 
original anti-money laundering documentation and any other documentation required by the Directors or their 
delegate. Shares may be redeemed by a signed written application through the Manager.  
 
Redemption requests received prior to the relevant Sub-Fund’s Dealing Deadline (10am Irish time on the 
Business Day immediately prior to the dealing day) for any Dealing Day will be processed as at that Dealing 
Day. 
 
The ICAV is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
In accordance with the Investor Money Regulations 2015 for Fund Service Providers (the “Investor Money 
Regulations” or “IMR”) subscription and redemption monies are routed through a cash collection account in the 
name of the ICAV.
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

6.  Cash and cash equivalents  
 

The Depositary to the Sub-Fund is Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited. At year-end, the Sub-
Fund’s total cash positions were as follows: 
 

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund
30/06/2022 30/06/2021

US$ US$
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral 
 - The Northern Trust Company 446,876 665,913
-  Morgan Stanley* 17,070 233,844
Total cash and cash equivalents 463,946 899,757

 
*All cash held by Morgan Stanley is cash held as margin cash for derivative purposes.  
 

7.  Exchange rates 

The exchange rates used to translate foreign currency balances and foreign currency-denominated assets and 
liabilities to US$ at the year-end were as follows: 
 

30/06/2022 30/06/2022
to US$ to US$

Australian dollar 1.45423 Japanese yen 135.85500
Canadian dollar 1.28995 New Zealand dollar 1.60836
Danish krone 7.11335 Norwegian krone 9.87975
Euro 0.95653 Singapore dollar 1.39170
Great British pound 0.82342 Swedish krona 10.24740
Hong Kong dollar 7.84695 Swiss franc 0.95735
Israel New shekel 3.50215

30/06/2021 30/06/2021
to US$ to US$

Australian dollar 1.33200 Japanese yen 110.99000
Canadian dollar 1.23830 New Zealand dollar 1.43113
Danish krone 6.27055 Norwegian krone 8.60520
Euro 0.84324 Singapore dollar 1.34420
Great British pound 0.72387 Swedish krona 8.55215
Hong Kong dollar 7.76585 Swiss franc 0.92435
Israel New shekel 3.25850
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management 

The activities of the Sub-Fund expose it to various financial risks. The Sub-Fund’s overall risk management 
process focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Sub-Fund’s financial performance.  
 
Risk is inherent in the Sub-Fund’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring, subject to risks limits and other controls. The process of risk management is 
critical to the Sub-Fund’s continuing profitability. The Sub-Fund is exposed to market risk (including currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk arising from the financial instruments it 
holds.  
 
Responsibility for day to day management of the Sub-Fund risk has been retained by the Manager, subject to its 
Risk Management Policy, and Osmosis Investment Management UK Limited as Investment Manager to the 
Sub-Fund. The Manager manages the financial risks of the Sub-Fund through the Risk Management Policy and 
Procedure (the “RMPP”). The Manager’s Risk Officer and Designated Directors of the Manager are responsible 
for the implementation of the RMPP. Operational risk is monitored by the Designated Director through periodic 
due diligence of delegates and ongoing monitoring of reporting from delegates.  
 
The Manager monitors the consistency between the investment strategy, objective and profile of the portfolio 
with respect to what has been communicated to investors through the Sub-Fund’ Prospectus and Supplement. 
 
Liquidity risk is monitored and managed to ensure that the Sub-Fund meets its underlying obligations based on 
maintaining appropriate liquid assets. The monitoring approach also incorporates bid/offer spreads, trade 
volumes of sectors, time to liquidate the Sub-Fund in part or in entirety as well as monitoring market impacting 
events.  
 
Market risk  
Market risk is the risk that changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates or other prices will affect the 
positions held by the Sub-Fund. All financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 
and held for trading are measured at fair value and all changes in market conditions directly affect fair value. 
The Sub-Fund is susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices. 
 
(i) Price risk  
The Sub-Fund is exposed to equity securities price risk. Price risk is the risk that the value of an investment may 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment 
or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Investment Manager utilises an estimated 
covariance matrix and open optimiser which has been developed and is maintained on a daily basis by a third 
party risk vendor in order to generate the minimum variance portfolio. The portfolio will be rebalanced quarterly 
at a period determined by the Investment Manager given optimal market and portfolio conditions to ensure 
efficient portfolio management. 
 
The Sub-Fund may also use derivatives for investment and efficient portfolio management purposes including 
for hedging purposes. The only techniques and instruments which may be used by the Sub-Fund are exchange 
traded futures. The Sub-Fund currently holds contract for difference’s (“CFD’s”) and forward currency 
contracts as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 Market risk (continued) 
 
At 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021, the fair values of equity investments exposed to price risk are categorised 
below: 
 
Investments held at the year-end 30 June 2022 
 

Equity and bond securities industry sector US$
 % of equity 
investments 

Basic Materials             4,399,112 9.31%
Communications                490,364 1.04%
Consumer Discretionary             4,770,143 10.10%
Consumer, Cyclical             4,057,630 8.59%
Consumer, Non-cyclical             4,619,493 9.78%
Consumer Staples             4,338,911 9.19%
Government             6,604,036 13.98%
Energy                539,378 1.14%
Health Care             2,677,643 5.67%
Industrial             4,998,156 10.58%
Technology             5,178,249 10.96%
Utilities             4,556,745 9.65%

          47,229,860 100.00%

Equity and bond securities geographical location US$ % of net assets
Italy                  93,586 0.21%
Ireland                    2,853 0.01%
Japan           16,830,997 38.17%
United States           30,302,424 68.73%
Total Investments           47,229,860 107.12%
Other assets and liabilities (3,139,457) (7.12%)
Total Net Assets           44,090,403 100.00%  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Market Risk (continued) 
 
(i) Price risk (continued) 
 
Investments held at the year-end 30 June 2021 

Equity securities industry sector US$
 %  of equity 
investments 

Basic Materials 8,578,813           16.15%
Communications 59,672                0.11%
Consumer Discretionary 18,454,239         34.73%
Consumer Staples 5,388,845           10.14%
Energy 13,445                0.03%
Health Care 3,458,962           6.51%
Industrial 8,976,481           16.89%
Technology 3,305,862           6.22%
Utilities 4,899,140           9.22%

53,135,459      100.00%

Equity securities geographical location US$ %  of net assets
Italy 300,487              0.47%
Ireland 288,543              0.45%
Japan 23,991,512         37.54%
New Zealand 619,828              0.97%
United States 27,935,089         43.71%
Total Investments 53,135,459      83.14%
Other assets and liabilities 10,777,804         16.86%
Total Net Assets 63,913,263      100.00%  

 

The method used to determine the global exposure is the absolute Value at Risk (“VaR”) method. VaR is 
calculated daily for both the Sub-Fund and the performance comparator or reference portfolio using RiskMetrics 
(one of the leading suppliers of risk management software). 
 
Absolute VaR is used, the VaR calculation utilises a 99% confidence interval, a twenty-day holding period, one 
year of daily returns and an eleven-day half-life. The Sub-Fund’s VaR is shown as a percentage of the Sub-
Fund’s Net Asset Value and is monitored against an internal limit. This limit is set lower than 20%. 
 
Fund name

30/06/2022 30/06/2021 Lowest  Highest  Mean 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market 
Neutral Fund 4.73% 4.85% 3.03% 5.31% 4.36%

Absolute VaR over the past financial year

 
 

Some limitations of VaR analysis:  
• the methodology is based on historical data and cannot take account of the fact that future market price 

movements, correlations between markets, and levels of market liquidity in conditions of market stress may 
bear no relation to historical patterns; and  

• the VaR is a point-in-time calculation, and does not necessarily reflect the risk position of the Sub-Fund at any 
time other than the date and time at which it is calculated.  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 

Market risk (continued)  
 
(ii) Currency risk  
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will change because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.  
 
Currency risk arises when the Sub-Fund invests in financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its 
functional currency. Consequently, the Sub-Fund is exposed to risks that the exchange rate of these currencies 
relative to the functional currency may change in a manner, which may have a favourable or unfavourable effect 
on the value of the Sub-Fund’s net assets.  
 
The table below analyses monetary and non-monetary items of foreign exchange exposure: 
 
As at 30 June 2022

Monetary Non-monetary Total Rate FX rate
exposure exposure exposure sensitivity sensitivity

Currency US$ US$ US$ % US$
Australian dollar 114,294 - 114,294 10% 11,429
Canadian Dollar 222,820 - 222,820 10% 22,282
Danish krone (143) - (143) 10% (14)
Euro (259,935) 93,586 (166,349) 10% (16,635)
Great British pound (88,510) - (88,510) 10% (8,851)
Hong Kong dollar (201,179) - (201,179) 10% (20,118)
Japanese yen (16,639,884) 16,956,231 316,347 10% 31,635
Norwegian krone (85) - (85) 10% (9)
New Zealand dollar 585 - 585 10% 59
Swedish krona 151,130 - 151,130 10% 15,113
Singapore dollar (49) - (49) 10% (5)
Swiss franc 45,110 - 45,110 10% 4,511

(16,655,846) 17,049,817 393,971 39,397
 
As at 30 June 2021

Monetary Non-monetary Total Rate FX rate
exposure exposure exposure sensitivity sensitivity

Currency US$ US$ US$ % US$
Australian dollar 1,157 3,685 4,842 10% 484
Canadian Dollar 597 (230,858) (230,261) 10% (23,026)
Danish krone 58 (1,721) (1,663) 10% (166)
Euro 8,349 317,635 325,984 10% 32,598
Great British pound 46,489 126,567 173,056 10% 17,306
Hong Kong dollar 445 72,987 73,432 10% 7,343
Japanese yen 117,530 (1,498,847) (1,381,317) 10% (138,132)
Norwegian krone 97 (3,684) (3,587) 10% (359)
New Zealand dollar 7,773 (48,806) (41,033) 10% (4,103)
Swedish krona 27,556 (50,868) (23,312) 10% (2,331)
Singapore dollar 564 (1,652) (1,088) 10% (109)
Swiss franc 417 76,649 77,066 10% 7,707

211,032 (1,238,913) (1,027,881) (102,788)
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 

Market risk (continued)  
 
(ii) Currency risk (continued) 
The tables above also summarises the sensitivity of the Sub-Fund’s monetary and non-monetary assets and 
liabilities to changes in foreign exchange movements at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. The analysis is based 
on the assumptions that the relevant foreign exchange rate increased by the percentage disclosed in the table, 
with all other variables held constant. This represents management’s best estimate of a reasonable possible shift 
in the foreign exchange rates and is not intended to be predictive.  
 
(iii) Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on the fair 
value of financial assets and liabilities and future cash flows. As at 30 June 2022 the Sub-Fund held 
US$6,604,036 interest-bearing securities and is exposed to interest risk. Excess cash and cash equivalents are 
invested at short-term market interest rates thus contributing very little to fair value interest rate risk however 
such balances are exposed to cash flow interest rate risks.  
 
Balances exposed to cash flow interest rate risks are the cash and cash equivalent amounts disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Sub-Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its 
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. The Sub-Fund 
is subject to daily redemption requests from investors. 
 
The Sub-Fund invests primarily in securities which in the opinion of the Investment Manager are readily 
realisable. As a result, the Sub-Fund is likely to be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these instruments 
at an amount close to their fair value in order to meet its liquidity requirements.  
 
All of the liabilities of the Sub-Fund as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021, as shown in the Statement of 
Financial Position fall due within three months of the year-end. 
 
The Manager has established a liquidity management policy which enables it to identify, monitor and manage 
the liquidity risks of the ICAV and the Sub-Fund and to ensure the liquidity profile of the investments of the 
Sub-Fund will facilitate compliance with its underlying obligations.  
 
The Manager’s liquidity policy takes into account the investment strategy, the liquidity profile, redemption 
policy and other underlying obligations of the ICAV and the Sub-Fund. The liquidity management systems and 
procedures include appropriate escalation measures to address anticipated or actual liquidity shortages or other 
distressed situations of the ICAV and the Sub-Fund.  
 
The data below shows the inflow and outflows on forward foreign currency exchange contracts. 
 

< 1 month
30/06/2022

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts US$
Inflow 32,071,259
Outflow (31,151,126)  
 

< 1 month
30/06/2021

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts US$
Inflow 47,731,255
Outflow (47,446,903)
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 

Credit risk  
Northern Trust Fiduciary Services (Ireland) Limited (“NTFSIL”) is the appointed Depositary of the Sub-Fund, 
responsible for the safe-keeping of assets. NTFSIL has appointed The Northern Trust Company (“TNTC”) as its 
global sub-custodian. Both NTFSIL and TNTC are wholly owned subsidiaries of Northern Trust Corporation 
(“NTC”). As at year-end date 30 June 2022, NTC had a long term credit rating from Standard & Poor’s of A+ 
(30 June 2021: A+). 
 

TNTC (as global sub-custodian of NTFSIL) does not appoint external sub-custodians within the U.S., the U.K., 
Ireland, Canada, Belgium, France, Germany, Netherlands and Saudi Arabia. However, in all other markets, 
TNTC appoints local external sub-custodians.  
 

NTFSIL, in the discharge of its depositary duties, verifies the Sub-Fund’s ownership of Other Assets, (as 
defined under Other Assets, Art 22(5) of UCITS V Directive 2014/91/EU), by assessing whether the Sub-Fund 
holds the ownership based on information or documents provided by the Sub-Fund or where available, on 
external evidence. 
 

TNTC, in the discharge of its delegated depositary duties, holds in custody (i) all financial instruments that may 
be registered in a financial instruments account opened on the books of TNTC and (ii) all financial instruments 
that can be physically delivered to TNTC. TNTC ensures all financial instruments (held in a financial 
instruments account on the books of TNTC) are held in segregated accounts in the name of the Sub-Fund, 
clearly identifiable as belonging to the Sub-Fund, and distinct and separately from the proprietary assets of 
TNTC, NTFSIL and NTC.  
 

In addition TNTC, as banker, holds cash of the Sub-Fund on deposit. Such cash is held as a liability on the 
Statement of Financial Position of TNTC. In the event of insolvency of TNTC, in accordance with standard 
banking practice, the Sub-Fund will rank as an unsecured creditor of TNTC in respect of any cash deposits. 
 

Insolvency of NTFSIL and or one of its agents or affiliates may cause the Sub-Fund’s rights with respect to its 
assets to be delayed or limited. 
  

The Responsible Party manages risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the Depositary 
and such risk is further managed by the Depositary monitoring the credit quality and financial positions of sub-
custodian appointments. 
 

The nominal value of the CFD’s held by the Sub-Fund as at 30 June 2022 is US$(35,426,936) ( (30 June 2021: 
US$(54,582,393)). 
 

The table below shows an analysis of derivative assets and derivative liabilities outstanding at 30 June 2022 and 
31 June 2021. 
 

Notional Notional
In thousands of US$ Fair value Fair value amount Fair value amount 
30 June 2022
Contracts for difference 2,588 22,055 (2,576) (13,372)
Forward foreign currency contracts 920               32,071 - -
Total 3,508 54,126 (2,576) (13,372)

Notional Notional
In thousands of US$ Fair value Fair value amount Fair value amount 
30 June 2021
Contracts for difference 3,521 53,949 (1,970) (633)
Forward foreign currency contracts 294 47,731 (10) (47,447)
Total 3,815 101,680 (1,980) (48,080)

Derivative assets Derivative liabilities

Derivative assets Derivative liabilities
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 
As at 30 June 2022 the Sub-Fund counterparties had the following credit ratings from Standard & Poor’s; 
Morgan Stanley A-2 (30 June 2021: A-2), TNTC A-1+ (30 June 2021: A-1+). 
 
The Sub-Fund considers that these exposures have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the 
counterparties. 
 
The Sub-Fund monitors changes in credit risk on these exposures by tracking published external credit ratings of 
the counterparties. To determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in the published ratings, 
the Sub-Fund’s supplement this by reviewing available press and regulatory information about counterparties. 
 
12-month and lifetime probabilities of default are based on historical data supplied by S&P Rating Agency for 
each credit rating. Loss given default parameters generally reflect an assumed recovery rate of 40%. However, if 
the asset were credit-impaired, then the estimate of loss would be based on a specific assessment of expected 
cash shortfalls and on the original effective interest rate. 
 
Investments in debt securities 
At 30 June 2022, the Sub-Fund invested in government debt securities with the following credit quality. The 
ratings are based on S&P ratings. 
 

30 June 2022 30 June 2022
US$ %

Rating
AA+ 6,604,036                        100.00 
Total 6,604,036                       100.00 

30 June 2021 30 June 2021
US$ %

Rating
AA+ 8,978,989 100.00                       
Total 8,978,989 100.00                     

 
Concentration of credit risk 
The investment manager reviews the credit concentration of debt securities held based on counterparties and 
industries and geographic location. 
 
As at the 30 June 2022, the Sub-Fund’s debt securities exposures were concentrated in the following industries. 
 

30 June 2022
%

Government bonds                   100.00 
Total                 100.00 

30 June 2021
%

Government bonds 100.00
Total 100.00
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 
 
Concentration of credit risk (continued) 
There were concentrations of credit risk in debt securities as Government bonds listed in the Schedule of 
Investments was 6.78% of the net assets attributable to the holders of redeemable shares as at 30 June 2022.  
 
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities  
There were no master netting agreements in place for the Sub-Fund for the year ended 30 June 2022 therefore 
the Sub-Fund had no legal right to offset. 
 
Capital risk management  
The capital of the Sub-Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares. Being the equity of the Sub-Fund, the amount of equity can change significantly on a daily basis, as the 
Sub-Fund is subject to daily subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of shareholders. Large redemptions 
of shares in the Sub-Fund may result in the Sub-Fund being forced to sell assets at a time and price at which it 
would normally prefer not to dispose of those assets. 
 

The Manager may, at its discretion, with the consent of the shareholders or at the request of shareholders, satisfy 
a redemption request by redemption of investments of the Sub-Fund in specie provided that such redemption 
would not prejudice the remaining shareholders of the Sub-Fund.  
 

If the value of shares to be sold on any dealing day equals 25% or more of the Net Asset Value of any Sub-
Fund, the Manager may in its discretion refuse to repurchase any shares in excess of 25% of the Net Asset 
Value; if so, the requests for repurchase on such dealing day will be reduced pro rata and shares which are not 
repurchased by reason of such refusal shall be treated as if a request for repurchase had been made in respect of 
each subsequent dealing day until all shares to which the original request related have been repurchased. 
 
The Sub-Fund regards its equity, which represents its net assets attributable to holders of redeemable equity 
shares as capital. The Sub-Fund’s objectives for managing capital are:  

• to invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected return indicated  
in its Prospectus;  

• to achieve consistent returns while safeguarding capital by investing in accordance with its investment      
policy or holding cash;  

• to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet the expenses of the Sub-Fund; and  
• to maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Sub-Fund cost-efficient.  

 

Fair value estimation 
The Sub-Fund’s accounting policies in relation to measuring financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are set out in Note 2.  
 
The Sub-Fund classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:  

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).  
• Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs). 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Fair value estimation (continued) 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is 
determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. 
For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a 
fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, 
that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.  
 
The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgment by the Sub-Fund. The Sub-
Fund considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, 
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the 
relevant market. 
 
The financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term financial assets 
and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value. All other financial assets and liabilities 
not measured at fair value through profit or loss are categorised as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
As at 30 June 2022

Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral Fund Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets US$ US$ US$ US$
Equities 40,625,824 - - 40,625,824
Collective Investment Scheme 1,120,000 - - 1,120,000
Government Bonds 6,604,036 - - 6,604,036
Contracts for difference - 2,588,392 - 2,588,392

Forward foreign currency exchange contracts - 920,133 - 920,133
48,349,860 3,508,525 - 51,858,385

Financial liabilities US$ US$ US$ US$
Contracts for difference - (2,576,237) - (2,576,237)

- (2,576,237) - (2,576,237)  
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

8. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
Fair value estimation (continued) 

         
As at 30 June 2021         
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity          
Market Neutral Fund Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets  US$ US$ US$ US$ 
Equities 53,135,459 - - 53,135,459 
Collective Investment Scheme 1,919,000 - - 1,919,000 
Government Bonds 8,978,989 - - 8,978,989 
Contracts for difference - 3,520,868 - 3,520,868 
Forward foreign currency exchange 
contracts - 293,876 - 293,876 
 64,033,448 3,814,744 - 67,848,192 

         
Financial liabilities US$ US$ US$ US$ 
Contracts for difference - (1,970,490) - (1,970,490) 
Forward foreign currency exchange 
contracts - (9,524) - (9,524) 
  - (1,980,014) - (1,980,014) 

 
There were no transfers between levels during the year (30 June 2021: none). 
 

9. Related party transactions  

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. 
 
Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) Limited has been appointed as the Manager of the ICAV with effect from 7 
April 2017. For the year ended 30 June 2022 the Manager charged management fees of US$43,849 (30 June 
2021: US$46,558) of which management fees payable as at 30 June 2022 amounted to US$9,973 (30 June 2021: 
US$11,456).  
 
The Manager may rebate all or part of its Management Fee to any shareholder, it being acknowledged that such 
rebate, if any, may differ between shareholders and that the Manager will have ultimate discretion in this matter.  
All fees charged by the Manager are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
The Manager appointed Osmosis Investment Management UK Limited as the Investment Manager of the Sub-
Fund. The Investment Manager acts as the Investment Manager and Distributor of the Sub-Fund. The 
Investment Manager is entitled to receive Investment Management fee as set out in Note 3. All fees charged by 
the Investment Manager are disclosed separately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Investment 
Management fees charged for the year ended 30 June 2022 were US$415,186 (30 June 2021: US$473,933) of 
which US$56,108 was due to the Investment Manager as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: US$42,644).  
 
Carey Millerd (resigned 17 January 2022), a Director, is a Director of Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) Limited, 
which is the appointed management company to Osmosis ICAV. He is also a director of a number of the 
Prescient group companies including Prescient Fund Services (Pty) Limited, as well as collective investment 
schemes managed by Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) Limited, namely Prescient Global Funds ICAV and 
Prescient Global Qualified Investor Funds ICAV. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

9. Related party transactions (continued) 
Hermanus Steyn (resigned 17 February 2022), a Director, is a director of Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) 
Limited, which is the appointed management company to Osmosis ICAV. Mr Steyn is a co-founder of Prescient 
Investment Management Limited and is the current Executive Chairman. Mr Steyn is also a Director of number 
of the Prescient group companies including Prescient Fund Services (Pty) Limited, as well as collective 
investment schemes managed by Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) Limited, namely Prescient Global Funds 
ICAV and Prescient Global Qualified Investor Funds ICAV. 
 
Eimear Cowhey and Fiona Mulcahy are both Directors of Prescient Global Funds ICAV and Prescient Global 
Qualified Investor Funds ICAV, which are managed by the same management company as Osmosis ICAV. 
 
Ben Dear and Graeme Stephen, Directors, are also directors of Osmosis Investment Management UK Limited, 
which is the investment manager and distributor to Osmosis ICAV. They are also directors of a number of the 
Osmosis group companies including Osmosis (Holdings) Limited, Osmosis Investment Management US LLC, 
Osmosis Investment Research Solutions Limited, Osmosis US LLC and Osmosis GP LLC. 
 
Mr Dear, Mr. Millerd (resigned 17 January 2022), Mr Stephens and Mr. Steyn (resigned 17 February 2022) are 
not entitled to a Director’s fee. 
 
Director fees for the year ended 30 June 2022 were US$14,461 (30 June 2021: US$10,449), of which US$Nil 
was due as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: US$ Nil). 
 
During the year, the Sub-Fund had one significant shareholder, the States of Guernsey, owning 88.03% (30 June 
2021: 84.84%, the States of Guernsey and Oxford Funds Endowment Master) of the total shares in the Sub-
Fund. Oxford Funds Endowment Master has a Nil% (30 June 2021: 15.33%) equity shareholding in Osmosis 
(Holdings) Limited. Osmosis Investment Management UK limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Osmosis 
(Holdings) Limited.  
 

10. Taxation  

The ICAV is the investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, as 
amended (the “TCA”). The ICAV will not be liable to Irish tax in respect of its income and gains, other than on 
the occurrence of a chargeable event. 
 
Generally a chargeable event arises on any distribution, redemption, repurchase, cancellation, transfer of shares 
or on the ending of a “Relevant Period”. A “Relevant Period” is an eight year period beginning with the 
acquisition of the shares by the shareholder and each subsequent period of eight years beginning immediately 
after the preceding Relevant Period. 
 
A gain on a chargeable event does not arise in respect of: 
(i) A shareholder who is not Irish resident and not ordinarily resident in Ireland at the time of the    

chargeable event provided the necessary signed statutory declarations are held by the ICAV; or 
(ii) Certain exempted Irish resident investors who have provided the ICAV with the necessary signed 

statutory declaration; or 
(iii) Any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the 

Revenue Commissioners of Ireland; or 
(iv) An exchange of shares representing one Sub-Fund for another Sub-Fund of the ICAV; or 
(v) An exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the ICAV with 

another ICAV; or 
(vi) Certain exchanges of shares between spouses and former spouses. 
 
In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the ICAV will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a 
chargeable event. There were no chargeable events during the period under review. Capital gains, dividends, and 
interest received by the ICAV may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country of origin and such 
taxes may not be recoverable by the ICAV or its shareholders. 
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

11. Auditors remuneration 

Audit fees (exclusive of VAT at 23%) charged for the year are as follows: 

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund

Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral 

Fund
30 June 2022 30 June 2021

US$ US$
Statutory audit of Financial Statements 10,400 23,177
Tax advisory services - -
Other non-audit services - -

10,400 23,177  
There were no fees and expenses paid in respect of other assurance or non-audit services provided by the 
auditors for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: none). 
 

12. Contingent liabilities and commitments 

The ICAV does not have as at the year-end any loan capital (including term loans) outstanding or created but 
unissued, or any outstanding mortgages, charges, debentures or other borrowings or indebtedness in the nature 
of borrowings, including bank overdraft, liabilities under acceptances or acceptance credits, obligations under 
finance leases, hire purchase, commitments, guarantees or other contingent liabilities not otherwise disclosed in 
these financial statements. 
 

13. Efficient portfolio management 

The Sub-Fund may use financial derivate instruments for the purposes of efficient portfolio management. 
During the year, the Sub-Fund entered into a variety of derivative instruments including forward foreign 
currency contracts and futures contracts for the purpose of efficient portfolio management. Gains and losses 
from these derivative instruments are disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Please refer to the 
Schedule of Investments for a full list exposures from these derivative instruments held on 30 June 2022. 
Margin cash held and the related counterparties are outlined in Note 6. Revenues arising from instruments, 
direct and indirect costs for the use of financial derivative instruments are outlined in Note 4.  
 

14. Global exposure 

The ICAV calculates global exposure using the VaR approach as set out in the Central Bank of Ireland's 
Guidance Note 3/03. The Sub-Fund’s global exposure relating to financial derivative instruments shall not 
exceed 100% of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund and will be measured using the VaR Model is calculated 
taking into account the current value of the underlying assets, the counterparty risk, future market movements 
and time available to liquidate position. The global exposure at 30 June 2022 is 153.09% (30 June 2021: 
160.08%). At 30 June 2022, the global exposure of the Sub-Fund was US$67,498,195 (30 June 2021: 
US$102,313,648).
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NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

15. Soft Commissions 

There were no soft commission arrangements undertaken during the year (30 June 2021: none). 
 

16. Involvement with unconsolidated structured entities 

The Sub-Fund has concluded that the unlisted open-ended investment funds in which it invests, but that it does 
not consolidate, meet the definition of structured entities because: 
 

• the voting rights in the funds are not dominant rights in deciding who controls them because the rights 
relate to administrative tasks only; 

• each fund’s activities are restricted by its prospectus; and 
• the funds have narrow and well-defined objectives to provide investment opportunities to investors. 

 

The table below describes the types of structured entities that the Sub-Fund does not consolidate but in which it 
holds an interest. 
 

Type of structured entity Nature and purpose
Interest held by the Sub-
Fund

Money Market Funds To manage assets on behalf of third party Investments in units
investors and generate fees for the issued by the Money
investment manager. Market Funds

These vehicles are financed through the 
issue of units to investors.  

Carrying
amount

included in
‘non-pledged

Number of financial
investee Total net assets at

In thousands of US$ funds  assets FVTPL’
Investment in unlisted open-ended investment funds
Money Market Funds 1.00             12,039,389        220,000     

30 June 2022

 
 

Carrying
amount

included in
‘non-pledged

Number of financial
investee Total net assets at

In thousands of US$ funds  assets FVTPL’
Investment in unlisted open-ended investment funds
Money Market Funds 1.00             63,913,263       319,000     

30 June 2021

 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Sub-Fund did not provide financial support to unconsolidated 
structured entities and has no intention of providing financial or other support (30 June 2021: none). 
 

The Sub-Fund can redeem shares in the above investment funds on a specified date.



OSMOSIS ICAV 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 For the year ended 30 June 2022  

50 
  

 
NOTES TO THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

17. Employees 

The Sub-Fund does not have employees as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: none). 
 

18. Significant events during the year 

The COVID-19 pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation on 11th March 2020 continues to have 
an effect on global financial markets with increased volatility and uncertainty. Whilst operational risks faced by 
the Sub-Fund and its service providers continue to be monitored, the Directors believe that there is no current 
impact to the Sub-Fund caused by COVID-19. However the Directors note that the continuation of 
unprecedented quantitative easing by governments is creating anomalous market conditions. The Directors will 
continue to monitor this situation. 
 
On 17 January 2022, Carey Millerd resigned as Director. 
 
On 17 February 2022, Hermanus Steyn resigned as Director. 
 
On 28 March 2022, Eoin Gleeson was appointed as Director. 
 
The Board of Directors have noted the recent developments in the Ukraine and the sanctions being imposed on 
Russia. Given the absence of exposure in the region, the Board of Directors' view is that these developments and 
sanctions are unlikely to have a significant direct adverse impact on the ICAV. The Board of Directors 
continues to monitor the developments closely and to take all the necessary actions.  
 
There have been no other significant events affecting the Sub-Fund during the year. 
 

19. Significant events since the year-end 

There have been no significant events affecting the Sub-Fund since 30 June 2022 that require recognition or 
disclosure in these financial statements. 
 

20. Approval of financial statements 

These financial statements were approved on 19 October 2022. 
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Equities: 92.16%  (2021: 83.14% )

Israeli equities: (2021: 0.00% )
Kornit Digital 0.01% 90                      2,853                    

0.01% 2,853                    

Irish equities: (2021: 0.45% )

Italian equities: (2021: 0.47% )
Snam - Brsaitaliana 0.21% 17,907               93,586                  

0.21% 93,586                  

Japanese equities: (2021: 37.54% )
Asahi 1.77% 23,800               778,705                
Bandai Namco 0.34% 2,100                 148,069                
Chubu Electric Power 1.09% 47,600               478,610                
Chugai Pharmaceutical 0.31% 5,400                 137,926                
Daifuku 2.59% 20,000               1,142,394             
Denso 0.81% 6,700                 355,479                
Inpex 0.65% 26,500               286,740                
Isuzu Motors - Tokyo 0.69% 27,100               299,416                
Kajima 0.70% 27,100               310,586                
Koito Manufacturing 3.21% 44,600               1,413,294             
Kose 1.44% 7,000                 635,825                
Nintendo 2.94% 3,000                 1,295,793             
Nippon Paint 2.81% 166,400             1,238,308             
Nippon Sanso 0.47% 12,900               205,386                
Nippon Shinyaku 0.25% 1,800                 109,308                
Nippon Yusen 0.29% 1,900                 129,646                
Nitto Denko 1.54% 10,500               678,591                
Rakuten 0.28% 27,800               125,234                
Sekisui House 1.41% 35,500               620,998                
Shimadzu 3.45% 48,200               1,522,049             
SoftBank 0.17% 1,900                 73,214                  
Tokyo Electric Power 1.68% 177,600             741,226                
Toyota Tsusho 0.58% 7,900                 257,606                
Yakult Honsha 3.97% 30,400               1,752,103             
Yaskawa Electric 0.78% 10,700               344,183                
Yokogawa Electric 4.25% 113,700             1,875,542             

38.47% 16,956,231            
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Equities: 92.16%  (2021: 83.14% ) (continued)

New Zealanders equities: (2021: 0.97% )

US equities: (2021: 43.71% )
Advanced Micro Devices 3.19% 18,397               1,406,819             
Agilent Technologies 0.05% 194                    23,041                  
AmerisourceBergen 0.31% 969                    137,094                
Amgen 1.89% 3,421                 832,329                
Amphenol 0.05% 335                    21,567                  
Apple 1.62% 5,223                 714,089                
Biogen 2.16% 4,667                 951,788                
Boeing 0.48% 1,534                 209,728                
Boston Scientific 2.62% 31,006               1,155,594             
Bristol-Myers Squibb Class C 4.24% 24,252               1,867,404             
Consolidated Edison 3.19% 14,803               1,407,765             
CVS Health 0.21% 976                    90,436                  
Deere & Co 0.63% 922                    276,111                
Dell Technologies 0.67% 6,411                 296,252                
Ecolab 0.29% 844                    129,773                
Edison International 3.78% 26,355               1,666,690             
Eversource Energy 0.26% 1,369                 115,639                
Exxon Mobil 0.57% 2,950                 252,638                
Genuine Parts Class C 0.59% 1,959                 260,547                
Gilead Sciences 0.49% 3,469                 214,419                
Hasbro 0.56% 3,024                 247,605                
Hewlett Packard Enterprise 0.59% 19,662               260,718                
Hologic 1.79% 11,387               789,119                
HP 0.74% 9,991                 327,505                
Illumina 0.88% 2,108                 388,631                
Kraft Heinz 4.10% 47,407               1,808,103             
Liberty Global 0.60% 12,504               263,209                
Lockheed Martin 0.06% 58                      24,938                  
McCormick & Co 0.30% 1,569                 130,619                
Microsoft 1.56% 2,685                 689,589                
NetApp 0.17% 1,128                 73,591                  
Nucor 2.49% 10,519               1,098,289             
Oracle 0.26% 1,612                 112,630                
PPG Industries 2.29% 8,820                 1,008,479             
PPL 0.12% 1,962                 53,229                  
QUALCOMM 2.49% 8,606                 1,099,330              
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 
 

% of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Equities: 92.16% (2021: 83.14%) (continued)

US equities: (2021: 43.71%) (continued)
ResMed 0.66% 1,395                292,435              
Rockwell Automation 0.93% 2,063                411,177              
Southwest Airlines 0.44% 5,382                194,398              
Steel Dynamics 0.09% 609                   40,285                
Teradyne 0.45% 2,208                197,726              
T-Mobile US 0.06% 193                   25,966                
United Rentals 2.55% 4,636                1,126,131           
Verizon Communications 0.01% 54                     2,741                  
Waters 0.51% 684                   226,390              
Wynn Resorts 1.48% 11,418              650,598              

53.47% 23,573,154         

Total Equities 92.16% 40,625,824         

Collective Investment Schemes+: 2.54% (2021: 3.00%)
BlackRock Institutional US Dollar Liquidity 'D' 2.04% 900,000            900,000              
Northern Trust Global US Dollar 0.50% 220,000            220,000              
Total Collective Investment Schemes 2.54% 1,120,000           

Government Bonds: 14.99% (2021: 14.05%)
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 07/07/2022 1.70% 750,000            749,907              
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 21/07/2022 1.63% 720,000            719,596              
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 04/08/2022 2.30% 1,010,000         1,008,877           
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 18/08/2022 0.43% 190,000            189,664              
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 08/09/2022 2.15% 950,000            947,203              
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 22/09/2022 6.78% 3,000,000         2,988,789           
Total Government Bonds 14.99% 6,604,036           

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Gains: 5.88% (2021: 5.50%)

Australian contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.21%)
Ampol 0.05% 31,475              20,778                
Evolution Mining 0.06% (38,835)            26,705                
Lottery 0.01% 201,536            4,158                  
Mineral Resources 0.00% (10)                   36                       
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

% of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Gains: 5.88% (2021: 5.50%) (continued)

Australian contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.21%) (continued)
Santos 0.13% (141,880)           58,538                
South32 0.03% (113,684)           15,132                

0.25% 125,347              

Austrian contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.04%)
OMV Class A 0.03% (3,251)               13,051                

0.03% 13,051                

Belgian contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.30%)
Solvay 0.36% (13,926)             158,441              
UCB 0.01% 16,266              4,421                  

0.37% 162,862              

British contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.47%)
Associated British Foods 0.01% (12,046)             5,479                  
AstraZeneca 0.02% 774                   8,873                  
Coca-Cola European Partners 0.00% 1,941                1,009                  
Diageo 0.00% 517                   150                     
InterContinental Hotels 0.04% (16,730)             19,708                
Rio Tinto 0.00% (27)                    236                     

0.07% 35,455                

Canadian contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.51%)
Canadian Natural Resources 0.04% (3,869)               15,679                
CGI 0.03% 10,657              14,470                
First Quantum Minerals 0.18% (15,461)             77,916                
Keyera 0.02% (4,681)               6,909                  
Pembina Pipeline 0.06% (11,265)             27,674                
Rogers Communications Class B 0.00% 18                     3                         
Suncor Energy 0.04% (4,475)               16,860                
Teck Resources Class B 0.08% (4,929)               33,152                
West Fraser Timber 0.03% (1,832)               12,738                
WSP Global 0.11% 11,318              50,445                

0.59% 255,846              
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Gains: 5.88%  (2021: 5.50% ) (continued)

Chinese/Hong Kong contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.15% )
Chow Tai Fook 0.09% 220,800             40,519                  
CK Infrastructure 0.01% (126,500)            4,982                    
Power Assets 0.00% (1,500)                19                         

0.10% 45,520                  

Finland contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.09% )

French contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.18% )
Accor 0.05% (9,070)                21,554                  
Capgemini 0.01% (729)                   2,503                    
Compagnie De Saint-Gobain 0.07% (3,664)                29,993                  
Engie 0.08% (27,882)              32,251                  
Ipsen 0.15% 11,751               64,850                  
Michelin 0.03% (7,901)                13,128                  
Pernod Ricard 0.01% 1,678                 4,386                    
Publicis Groupe 0.00% 4,379                  -                          
Remy Cointreau 0.02% 912                    7,779                    
Renault 0.13% (33,832)              56,768                  
Valeo 0.00% (16)                     22                         
Veolia Environment 0.00% (2,077)                1,563                    

0.55% 234,797                

German contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.14% )
adidas Class A 0.00% 575                    1,395                    
Bayer 0.18% (10,889)              77,638                  
Continental Class A 0.01% (580)                   3,966                    
HelloFresh 0.01% 2,898                 2,999                    
KION Group 0.02% (7,201)                10,464                  
RWE Class A 0.25% (34,110)              111,121                
Symrise 0.04% 2,600                 18,293                  

0.51% 225,876                

Irish contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.10% )
Seagate Technology 0.16% (14,404)              69,139                  
Smurfit Kappa 0.02% (4,731)                6,967                    

0.18% 76,106                  

Italian contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.14% )
Eni 0.12% (26,746)              53,854                  

0.12% 53,854                  
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Gains: 5.88%  (2021: 5.50% ) (continued)

Japanese contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.99% )
Aisin Seiki 0.03% (41,300)              11,182                  
Asahi Kasei 0.05% (134,200)            20,745                  
Fuji Electric 0.01% (4,300)                5,064                    
Hitachi Construction Machinery 0.03% (24,600)              14,533                  
Ibiden 0.15% (46,300)              65,469                  
Kubota 0.05% (17,200)              22,958                  
McDonald's 0.01% (6,900)                3,047                    
Minebea Mitsumi 0.00% (20,000)              589                       
Murata Manufacturing 0.00% (3,100)                1,900                    
NGK Insulators 0.06% (56,100)              27,254                  
Nissan Chemical 0.17% (22,400)              75,846                  
Ono Pharmaceutical 0.28% 75,100               121,905                
SUMCO 0.08% (19,700)              33,134                  
Yahoo Japan 0.00% (215,800)            136                       

0.92% 403,762                

Luxembourg contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.14% )

Netherlands contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.06% )
Heineken 0.06% (6,895)                25,085                  
Ferrari 0.00% 5                        39                         
NXP Semiconductors 0.00% (1,372)                341                       

0.06% 25,465                  

Portuguese contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.01% )

Spanish contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.17% )
ACS Actividades de Construccion y Servicios 0.00% (20)                     20                         

0.00% 20                         

Swedish contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.03% )
Getinge 0.10% 15,094               44,483                  
Nibe Industrier 0.01% 9,550                 3,542                    
Sandvik Class A 0.24% (72,258)              105,081                
SKF 0.24% (86,120)              105,846                
Swedish Orphan Biovitrum 0.01% 57,830               2,716                    

0.60% 261,668                 
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Gains: 5.88%  (2021: 5.50% ) (continued)

Swiss contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 0.19% )
Clariant 0.02% (17,119)              9,477                    
Lonza 0.01% (2,505)                4,163                    
Nestle 0.00% 5                        19                         
Roche Holding 0.02% 589                    6,646                    
Straumann 0.15% 5,977                 67,740                  

0.20% 88,045                  

US contracts for difference - unrealised gains: (2021: 1.58% )
3M Class C 0.02% (2,208)                10,864                  
Baxter International 0.12% (15,291)              55,048                  
Burlington Stores 0.06% (1,370)                28,333                  
Caterpillar 0.21% (3,343)                91,063                  
Celanese 0.22% (5,819)                97,585                  
CF Industries 0.06% (4,223)                26,774                  
Cleveland-Cliffs 0.06% (58,645)              28,630                  
Dow Inc. 0.06% (4,281)                24,830                  
Elanco Animal Health 0.08% (28,514)              34,257                  
Entegris 0.01% (1,664)                4,502                    
General Motors Class C 0.00% (126)                   305                       
Hilton Worldwide Class I 0.08% (3,557)                37,171                  
Illinois Tool Works 0.01% (1,150)                4,784                    
Kroger Class C 0.05% (5,704)                20,249                  
Micron Technology 0.05% (10,440)              22,450                  
NortonLifeLock 0.00% (60,417)              2,074                    
Occidental Petroleum 0.00% (20)                     28                         
ON Semiconductor 0.16% (19,463)              72,032                  
Oneok 0.00% (7)                       29                         
Target 0.01% (433)                   2,689                    
Texas Instruments 0.04% (7,390)                15,781                  
Walt Disney 0.00% (838)                   1,240                    

1.30% 580,718                

Total Contracts for Difference - Unrealised Gains 5.88% 2,588,392          

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Losses: (5.88% ) (2021: (3.08% ))

Australian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.08% ))
CSL (0.01%) (683)                   (3,837)                  
Fortescue Metals (0.04%) 10,455               (16,895)                
Westfarmers (0.00%) (7,976)                (216)                     

(0.05%) (20,948)                 
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Losses: (5.88% ) (2021: (3.08% )) (continued)

Austrian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.00% ))
Voestalpine (0.00%) (3,079)                (11)                       

(0.00%) (11)                       

Belgian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.00% ))
Umicore (0.20%) 14,359               (90,070)                

(0.20%) (90,070)                

British contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.20% ))
BAE Systems (0.00%) (69)                     (56)                       
BP (0.03%) 28,201               (13,391)                
Hikma Pharmaceuticals (0.02%) (6,250)                (7,553)                  
Johnson Matthey (0.04%) 9,888                 (15,647)                
Pearson (0.00%) 49                      (1)                         
Unilever (0.01%) (2,727)                (3,114)                  

(0.10%) (39,762)                

Canadian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.87% ))
Agnico Eagle Mines (0.04%) 4,885                 (17,155)                
Cameco (0.01%) 1,547                 (2,363)                  
Canadian National Railway Class C (0.03%) (5,687)                (11,374)                
Enbridge (0.01%) 5,948                 (2,997)                  
Gildan Activewear (0.00%) (2,911)                (339)                     
Kinross Gold (0.00%) (100,996)            (17)                       

(0.09%) (34,245)                

Cayman Islands contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.01% ))

Chinese/Hong Kong contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.02% ))
Budweiser Brewing (0.10%) (167,400)            (44,213)                
Sands China (0.10%) (122,800)            (42,589)                
Techtronic Industries (0.22%) 105,500             (96,130)                

(0.42%) (182,932)              

Danish contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: 0.00% ))
DSV (0.00%) 4,889                 (119)                     
Pandora (0.00%) (1,715)                (19)                       
Rockwool International (0.00%) (2,443)                (96)                       

(0.00%) (234)                      
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Losses: (5.88% ) (2021: (3.08% )) (continued)

Finland contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: 0.00% ))
Kone Class B (0.02%) 9,962                 (8,019)                  
Stora Enso (0.03%) 12,528               (11,919)                
Orion Corporation (0.20%) (12,283)              (88,220)                

(0.25%) (108,158)              

French contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.25% ))
Alstom (0.31%) 37,443               (135,832)              
Biomerieux (0.20%) (9,022)                (86,209)                
Dassault Aviation (0.04%) 5,626                 (18,125)                
Eiffage (0.00%) 2,045                 (32)                       
EssilorLuxottica (0.02%) (1,146)                (8,447)                  

(0.57%) (248,645)              

German contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.22% ))
Bayerische Motoren Werke (0.10%) 8,278                 (44,562)                
GEA Class A (0.05%) 8,657                 (22,536)                
Puma (0.01%) 443                    (2,279)                  
Rheinmetall (0.03%) (5,037)                (13,593)                
Siemens (0.00%) 1,314                 (1,637)                  
Telefonica Deutschland (0.03%) 175,219             (11,880)                
Uniper (0.11%) 6,652                 (47,220)                
Volkswagen (0.17%) 3,579                 (73,486)                

(0.50%) (217,193)              

Irish contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.00% ))
Johnson Controls Internation (0.00%) (3,001)                (25)                       

(0.00%) (25)                       

Isle of Man contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.10% ))
GVC (0.19%) 52,612               (83,383)                

(0.19%) (83,383)                

Italian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.03% ))
Atlantia (0.00%) (35,584)              (1,012)                  
Moncler (0.00%) 5,982                 (301)                      
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Losses: (5.88% ) (2021: (3.08% )) (continued)

Italian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.03% )) (continued)
Recordati (0.04%) (4,845)                (18,691)                
Snam (0.05%) 148,978             (20,950)                
Terna (0.00%) 3,150                 (29)                       

(0.09%) (40,983)                

Japanese contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.48% ))
Ajinomoto (0.23%) (55,000)              (101,384)              
All Nippon Airways (0.00%) (14,600)              (47)                       
Central Japan Railway Class C (0.01%) (2,500)                (4,509)                  
Dai Nippon Printing (0.01%) (11,000)              (3,887)                  
Daiichi Sankyo (0.28%) (47,500)              (124,471)              
East Japan Railway Class C (0.01%) (5,100)                (6,307)                  
Eneos Holdings (0.00%) (13,000)              (9)                         
Hoya (0.00%) (3,000)                (45)                       
Kikkoman (0.00%) (5,100)                (47)                       
Kyowa Kirin (0.16%) (41,100)              (69,031)                
Mitsubishi Heavy Industries (0.00%) (9,200)                (56)                       
Nidec (0.02%) (8,900)                (8,975)                  
Nippon Express Holdings (0.04%) 11,100               (19,479)                
Nippon Telegraph & Telephone (0.01%) (6,000)                (3,180)                  
NTT Data (0.01%) (47,300)              (5,919)                  
Osaka Gas (0.00%) (14,200)              (47)                       
Sekisui Chemical (0.04%) (77,000)              (15,870)                
Sharp (0.00%) (26,100)              (35)                       
Suzuki Motor (0.03%) (9,000)                (15,171)                
Unicharm (0.15%) (24,300)              (64,239)                
Yamaha (0.02%) (5,200)                (10,717)                
Yamato (0.00%) (200)                   (134)                     

(1.02%) (453,559)              

Jersey contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.00% ))
Glencore (0.02%) 14,176               (8,177)                  

(0.02%) (8,177)                  

Luxembourg contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.00% ))
Eurofins Scientific (0.05%) 6,525                 (23,057)                

(0.05%) (23,057)                 
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Losses: (5.88% ) (2021: (3.08% )) (continued)

Netherlands contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.02% ))
Akzo Nobel (0.15%) 11,668               (67,881)                

(0.15%) (67,881)                

Norwegian contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.01% ))
Aker BP (0.51%) 17,490               (224,209)              
Aker BP ASA (0.00%) (3,065)                (19)                       
Telenor (0.00%) (12,025)              (28)                       
Yara International (0.00%) (7,472)                (54)                       

(0.51%) (224,310)              

Papa New Guinean contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.15% ))

Portugese contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: 0.00% )
Jeronimo Martins (0.07%) (14,628)              (29,056)                

(0.07%) (29,056)                

Singaporean contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.00% ))
Genting Singapore (0.00%) 23,800               (428)                     

(0.00%) (428)                     

Spanish contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.25% ))
Cellnex (0.05%) (33,631)              (20,744)                
Enagas (0.03%) 43,976               (11,494)                
Ferrovial (0.01%) (9,235)                (4,441)                  
Grifols (0.02%) (65,666)              (9,934)                  
Iberdrola (0.00%) 272                    (25)                       
Inditex (0.02%) 9,759                 (9,794)                  
Red Electrica (0.01%) 11,997               (2,651)                  
Siemens Gamesa Renewable Energy (0.00%) 44,556               (146)                     

(0.14%) (59,229)                

Swedish contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.11% ))
Assa Abloy Class B (0.02%) 10,426               (7,834)                  
Atlas Copco (0.00%) 4,176                 (2,009)                  
Boliden (0.02%) 2,044                 (8,407)                  
Husqvarna Class B (0.00%) 3,827                 (1,105)                  
Tele2 (0.00%) 71,045               (141)                     

(0.04%) (19,496)                 
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS  
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 

%  of TNA Shares/
Investment Nominal Fair value US$

Contracts for Difference* - Unrealised Losses: (5.88% ) (2021: (3.08% )) (continued)

Swiss contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.07% ))
Alcon (0.01%) (7,461)                (3,117)                  
Compagnie Financiere Richemont (0.00%) 1,579                 (29)                       
Sika (0.03%) 2,131                 (13,572)                
Sonova (0.00%) 819                    (46)                       
Swisscom (0.00%) 67                      (6)                         
Vifor Pharma (0.04%) 2,035                 (16,049)                

(0.08%) (32,819)                

US contracts for difference - unrealised losses: (2021: (0.21% ))
AES Corp/VA (0.09%) (27,594)              (40,286)                
Alliant Energy (0.13%) (19,890)              (57,084)                
Amcor (0.01%) (9,340)                (3,082)                  
AT&T (0.01%) (3,430)                (5,214)                  
Becton Dickinson Class C (0.02%) (858)                   (8,357)                  
Catalent (0.06%) (11,906)              (27,741)                
Church & Dwight (0.01%) (400)                   (4,464)                  
Conagra Brands (0.10%) (20,250)              (45,765)                
Conocophillips (0.00%) (1,680)                (25)                       
Dominion Energy (0.07%) (6,517)                (32,129)                
DTE Energy (0.11%) (6,223)                (46,920)                
Duke Energy (0.01%) (826)                   (5,807)                  
Eli Lilly Class C (0.28%) (3,926)                (122,648)              
Entergy (0.00%) (172)                   (838)                     
Incyte (0.21%) (17,742)              (90,998)                
Kellogg (0.00%) (16,589)              (207)                     
Mosaic (0.19%) 14,218               (82,058)                
Nextera Energy (0.03%) (4,244)                (13,878)                
Procter & Gamble (0.00%) (80)                     (2)                         
Quest Diagnostics (0.00%) (320)                   (7)                         
Union Pacific (0.00%) (1,198)                (45)                       
West Pharmaceutical Services (0.01%) (327)                   (4,081)                  

(1.34%) (591,636)              

Total Contracts for Difference - Unrealised Losses (5.88% ) (2,576,237)          
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
 
Forward Currency Contracts** - Unrealised Gains: 2.09%  (2021: 0.46% )

%  of
Purchase Purchase Sale Sale TNA Per Maturity Unrealised
Currency Amount Currency Amount Investment Date gains

USD 16,611,752 JPY 2,133,149,950 2.06% 05/07/2022 910,086                
USD 15,260,998 JPY 2,069,203,600 0.02% 02/08/2022 7,290                    
USD 103,504 EUR 96,411 0.01% 05/07/2022 2,711                    
USD 95,005 EUR 90,681 0.00% 02/08/2022 46                         
Total Unrealised Gains on Forward Currency Contracts 2.09% 920,133                

Forward Currency Contracts** - Unrealised Losses: 0.00%  (2021: (0.01% ))

%  of TNA
Investment Fair Value US$

Total financial assets and liabilities at fair value 111.78% 49,282,148        
through profit or loss

Other Net Liabilities (11.78% ) (5,191,745)         

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable
Participating Shares 100.00% 44,090,403        

*The counterparty for the CFD’s is Morgan Stanley.
**The counterparties for the Forward Currency Contracts is Northern Trust.

⁺The collective investment scheme (“CIS”) does not have any management fees, nor is it governed by any 
regulatory body. The jurisdiction of the CIS is Ireland.
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SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS 
As at 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 

%  of total
assets*

Analysis of total asset

Transferable securities admitted to an official stock exchange listing 77.64%
Transferable securities admitted to a regulated market 14.76%
Financial derivative instruments 6.71%
Other Assets 0.89%

100.00%

*Calculation based on the total assets of the Fund (excluding liabilities). This summary is a UCITS requirement.  
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SCHEDULE OF SIGNIFICANT PORTFOLIO CHANGES 
As at 30 June 2022

Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund

Purchases Shares/Nominal Cost US$
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 27/01/2022 4,930,000 4,929,343
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 21/10/2021 3,580,000 3,579,625
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 22/09/2022 3,000,000 2,987,852
Yokogawa Electric 150,500 2,671,183
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 23/06/2022 2,500,000 2,497,192
United Rentals 6,624 2,245,751
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 05/05/2022 2,200,000 2,198,800
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 26/11/2021 2,010,000 2,009,828
Subaru 99,600 1,944,762
Koito Manufacturing 45,200 1,941,166
Kose 16,100 1,814,943
United States Treasury Bills 0.00% 23/12/2021 1,800,000 1,799,868
Advanced Micro Devices 20,477 1,789,542
Northern Trust Global US Dollar 1,714,000 1,714,000
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 07/04/2022 1,700,000 1,699,627
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 10/02/2022 1,640,000 1,639,799
Nintendo 3,700 1,639,449
Yaskawa Electric 39,000 1,596,075
Biogen 6,219 1,578,705
Nucor 13,281 1,490,058
Daifuku 20,200 1,456,624
HP 49,962 1,391,588
Genuine Parts Class C 10,828 1,369,936
QUALCOMM 9,916 1,318,508
Toyota Motor 73,200 1,250,774
Shimadzu 31,500 1,247,623
Asahi 28,000 1,179,168
McCormick & Co 14,551 1,167,631
Kansai Paint - Tokyo 59,200 1,139,687
Apple 7,565 1,133,311
Pola Orbis - Tokyo 67,200 1,030,649
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 04/08/2022 1,010,000 1,008,030
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 13/01/2022 1,000,000 999,914
Yakult Honsha 18,600 976,203
Nippon Paint 125,700 950,139
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 08/09/2022 950,000 947,034
Chubu Electric Power 89600 930,601
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SCHEDULE OF SIGNIFICANT PORTFOLIO CHANGES 
As at 30 June 2022

Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund

Sales Shares/Nominal Proceeds US$
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 07/10/2021 6,500,000 6,499,588
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 27/01/2022 4,930,000 4,929,908
Ford Motor Class C 218,339 3,728,558
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 21/10/2021 3,580,000 3,580,000
Mazda Motor 345,400 2,772,844
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 23/06/2022 2,500,000 2,499,625
Stanley Black & Decker 14,522 2,472,042
Nabtesco 61,600 2,353,269
Yaskawa Electric 55,600 2,281,675
Subaru 133,200 2,240,231
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 05/05/2022 2,200,000 2,199,934
Kansai Paint - Tokyo 138,700 2,069,431
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 26/11/2021 2,010,000 2,009,938
Northern Trust Global US Dollar 1,813,000 1,813,000
United States Treasury Bills 0.00% 23/12/2021 1,800,000 1,799,852
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 07/04/2022 1,700,000 1,699,975
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 10/02/2022 1,640,000 1,639,990
PPG Industries 10,111 1,608,528
Pola Orbis - Tokyo 115,500 1,593,505
Bristol-Myers Squibb Class C 23,326 1,510,783
Mondelez International Class A 24,432 1,483,732
Genuine Parts Class C 11,281 1,474,052
JFE 96,100 1,468,739
Advantest 17,200 1,415,819
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 23/09/2021 1,410,000 1,409,913
Howmet Aerospace 43,996 1,374,846
Kraft Heinz 36,708 1,366,243
International Paper Class C 22,794 1,321,710
McCormick & Co 12,982 1,268,114
HP 39,971 1,228,611
Toyota Motor 73,200 1,214,246
Edison International 18,841 1,208,367
Isuzu Motors 85,000 1,146,657
Apple 6,986 1,097,549
Boston Scientific 24,362 1,060,511
Kose 9,100 1,048,520
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 26/08/2021 1,040,000 1,039,974
United States Treasury Bill 0.00% 13/01/2022 1,000,000 999,989
Toyota Tsusho 24,400 991,507
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APPENDIX 1 - ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF OSMOSIS ICAV 
OSMOSIS RESOURCE EFFICIENT EQUITY MARKET NEUTRAL FUND (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Remuneration disclosures 
 

An effective Remuneration policy of the Manager (the “Remuneration Policy”) has been put in place by the 
Manager which complies with the Manager and the European Securities and Markets Authority (the “ESMA”) 
guidelines on sound Remuneration policies under UCITS (the “Guidelines”). 
 

The purpose of the Manager’s remuneration policy is to seek to ensure that the remuneration arrangements of 
“identified staff’: 
 

(i) is consistent with and promotes sound and effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking 
which is inconsistent with the risk profile, rules or instruments of incorporation of the Manager; and 
 

(ii) is consistent with the Manager’s business strategy, objectives, values and interests and includes measures to 
avoid conflicts of interest. 
 

The ESMA Guidelines relating to governance, the remuneration committee and transparency, and certain of the 
risk-alignment guidelines, apply to the Manager as a whole. 
 

The Sub-Fund complies with those objectives by having a business model which by its nature does not promote 
excessive risk taking and by ensuring that the fixed salary element of those involved in relevant functions 
reflects the market rate. 
 

Remuneration Policy of the Manager 
The Manager’s policy is to design and implement a remuneration policy which is consistent with and promotes 
sound and effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk 
profile or the Deed of the ICAV and its Sub-Funds. Furthermore, the Manager’s remuneration policy is 
consistent with the Sub-Fund’s respective business strategies, objectives, values and interests and includes 
measures to avoid conflicts of interest. In line with the UCITS Regulations, the guidelines issues by ESMA and 
the requirements of the Central Bank, all of which may be amended from time to time, the Manager applies its 
remuneration policy in a manner which is proportionate to its size and that of the Sub-Fund, its internal 
organisation and the nature, scope and complexity of its activities. 
 

The Manager does not impose a limit with regard to variable compensation versus fixed compensation. 
However, the Manager’s policy is to pay all staff a fixed component representing a sufficiently high proportion 
of the total remuneration of the individual to allow the Manager to operate a fully flexible policy, with the 
possibility of not paying any variable component. 
 

Where the Manager pays its staff performance related pay, the following requirements, among others, will be 
applied: 
 

(a) where remuneration is performance related, the total amount of remuneration is based on a combination of 
the assessment of the performance of the individual and of the business unit of the Sub-Fund and of the overall 
results of Manager, and when assessing individual performance, financial as well as non-financial criteria are 
taken into account; 
 

(b) the assessment of performance is set in a multi-year framework appropriate to the life-cycle of the Sub-Fund 
in order to ensure that the assessment process is based on longer term performance and that the actual payment 
of performance-based components of remuneration is spread over a period which takes account of the 
performance fee calculation period of the relevant Sub-Fund, the Sub-Fund’s redemption policy and its 
investment risks (as set out in the relevant Supplement); 
 

(c) The Manager does not pay guaranteed variable remuneration except in an exceptional case in the context of 
hiring new staff and is limited to the first year; 
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APPENDIX 1 - ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF OSMOSIS ICAV 
OSMOSIS RESOURCE EFFICIENT EQUITY MARKET NEUTRAL FUND (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 

Remuneration Policy of the Manager (continued) 
(d) payments related to the early termination of a contract reflect performance achieved over time and are 
designed in a way that does not reward failure; 
 
(e) the measurement of performance used to calculate variable remuneration components or pools of variable 
remuneration components includes a comprehensive adjustment mechanism to integrate all relevant types of 
current and future risks; 
 
(f) variable remuneration is not paid through vehicles or methods that facilitate the avoidance of the 
requirements of the Manager Regulations. 
 
The total amount of remuneration paid by the AIFM to its staff in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 
2022 is €1,776,572 which can be allocated as 87% fixed and 13% variable. There were a total of 26 
beneficiaries of the remuneration described above. The amount of the remuneration paid by the AIFM to its 
senior management in respect of the financial year 30 June 2022 was €604,186 (30 June 2021: €349,828). The 
amount of the total remuneration paid by the AIFM to members of its staff whose actions have a material impact 
on the risk profile of the AIF in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2022 was €30,000 (30 June 2021: 
€29,000).  
 
In line with ESMA guidance, the remuneration disclosures relate to the delegates of the management company 
who are responsible for investment management. The total amount of remuneration paid by the delegates to its 
staff in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2022 is €192,502 (30 June 2021: €192,502). 



OSMOSIS ICAV 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 

Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements 
 For the year ended 30 June 2022  

69 
  

 
APPENDIX 2 – INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS IN SWITZERLAND (Unaudited)  
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

Prescient Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the “Manager”) has appointed 1741 Fund Solutions Ltd, Burggraben 
16, 9000 St. Gallen, Switzerland as representative. The paying agent is Tellco AG, Bahnhofstrasse 4, 6430 
Schwyz.  
 
Units are offered in Switzerland by 1741 Fund Solutions Ltd at the above address. Investors can obtain, free of 
charge, the Prospectus, the Key Investor Information Document(s) (“KIID(s)”), the last annual and interim 
reports, as well as a list of the purchases and sales made on behalf of the Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral Fund (the “Sub-Fund”), in English, from the representative at the above address. Official 
publications for the Funds are found on the internet at www.fundinfo.com. Unit prices (Net Asset Value with 
the words "plus commissions") are published daily on the internet at www.fundinfo.com. 
 

All the information appearing in these reports and accounts is solely with respect to the Prescient ICAV (the 
“ICAV”) which is licensed for public offer and marketing in or from Switzerland, namely: Osmosis Resource 
Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund (the “Sub-Fund”). 
 

Representativefor Switzerland 
1741 Fund Solutions Ltd 
Burggraben 16 
9000 St. Gallen 
Switzerland 
 

Paying Agent for Switzerland 
Tellco Ltd 
Bahnhofstrasse 4 
6315 Schwyz 
Switzerland 
 

Performance 
Following a guideline from the Asset Management Association Switzerland (the “AMAS”) dated 1 January 
2022, the Directors of the ICAV are supplying performance data in conformity with the said guideline. This data 
can be found below. Furthermore, the Directors of the ICAV are required to provide the below additional 
information on performance. 
 
The following comparative indices are used as, in the Directors’ opinion, and in the light of the investment 
policy of the Sub-Fund, they are the most appropriate selection for comparison. 
 

Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund  
MSCI World (Net TR USD)  
 

Investors should contact the Swiss representative at the above address should they require additional 
information, for example on performance including the comparison of the relevant indices where applicable. 
 

Total expense ratio 
Pursuant to a guideline from the AMAS dated 1 January 2022, the Sub-Fund is required to publish a total 
expense ratio (“TER”) for the year ended 30 June 2022. 
 

The TERs for the Sub-Fund for the year ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 is as follows: 
 

Name of Fund 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 
 TER in % TER in % 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund 
Class A 

 
1.22 

 
1.22 

Class B 1.22 1.22 
Class C 1.22 1.07 
Class D 1.22 1.06 
 

http://www.fundinfo.com/
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APPENDIX 2 – INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS IN SWITZERLAND (Unaudited) (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 

Total expense ratio (continued) 
This information was established by the ICAV, based on the data contained in the statement of comprehensive 
income for the above reference year (investment manager’s fees, administration fees, depositary fees, taxes and 
duties, and all other commissions and expenses appearing as per the breakdown of the statement of 
comprehensive income and not already included in any of the foregoing categories). The TER is calculated 
using the average daily Net Asset Value for the year. 
 
Trailer fees and reimbursements 
Trailer fees (Bestandespflegekommissionen) may only be paid to the sales agents/partners indicated below: 
• authorised sales agents (distributors) within the meaning of Article 19, Para 1, Collective Investment Funds 

Act (“CISA”); 
• sales agents (distributors) exempted from the authorisation requirement within the meaning of Article 13, 

Para 4, CISA and Article 8 Collective Investment Schemes Ordinance (“CISO”); 
• sales partners who place Sub-Fund units exclusively with institutional investors with professional treasury 

facilities; 
and/or 

• sales partners who place Sub-Fund units with their clients exclusively on the basis of a written 
commission-based asset management mandate. 

 
Reimbursement (Rückvergütungen) may only be paid to the institutional investors detailed below who from a 
commercial perspective are holding the Sub-Fund units for third parties: 
•  life insurance companies (in respect of Sub-Fund units held for the account of insured persons or to cover 

obligations towards insured persons); 
• pension funds and other retirement provision institutions (in respect of Sub-Fund units held for the account 

of beneficiaries); 
• investment foundations (in respect of Fund units held for the account of in-house funds); 
• Swiss fund management companies (in respect of Fund units held for the account of the funds managed); 
• foreign fund management companies and providers (in respect of Fund units held for the account of 

managed 
• funds and investing unitholders); and/or 
• investment companies (in respect of the investment of the company assets). 
 
Performance data 
Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund (including distribution payments where applicable). 
 

 30/06/2022 
% 

30/06/2021 
% 

Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral Fund – Class A) -1.03 -3.33  

Inception = 08/03/2018, 1 yr 30 June 2021 – 30 June 2022 
Source: Bloomberg.  Tickers in order = OSSMNAU ID 
 
Past performance is no indication of current or future performance. The performance data does not take account 
of the commissions and costs incurred on the issue and redemption of units. Please note that changes in the rates 
of exchange may have an adverse effect on the value, price or income of an investment. 
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APPENDIX 3 – SECURITIES FINANCIANG TRANSACTIONS REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
A Securities Financing Transaction (“SFT”) is defined as per Article 3(11) of the Securities Financing 
Transactions Regulations as: 
 
· a repurchase transaction; 
· securities or commodities lending and securities or commodities borrowing; 
· a buy-sell back transaction or sell-buy back transaction; or 
· a margin lending transaction. 
 
UCITS are required to disclose the use of SFTs. 
 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2022 or prior year ended 30 June 2021, Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral Fund (the “Sub-fund”) did not trade in any SFTs. 
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
Disclosure for the financial products referred to in Article 9, paragraphs 1 to 4a, of Regulation (EU) 
2019/2088 and Article 5, first paragraph, of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 

Product name: Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund  

Legal entity identifier: 

Does this financial product have a sustainable investment objective? 

Yes, it made sustainable investments with an environmental objective: 100% for the long book 

- The long book with 42.6% in economic activities that qualify as environmentally sustainable under the 
EU Taxonomy (market-cap weighted). This figure is based on the EU Taxonomy eligibility and not the 
alignment. 

- The short book with 47.1% in economic activities that qualify as environmentally sustainable under the 
EU Taxonomy (market-cap weighted). This figure is based on the EU Taxonomy eligibility and not the 
alignment. 
 

It made sustainable investments with a social objective: 0% 

To what extent was the sustainable investment objective of this financial product met? 

The investment objective of the Osmosis Resource Efficient Market Neutral Strategy (the “Strategy”)is to 
deliver a market neutral portfolio with a core focus on resource efficiency and which seeks to outperform a 
financial benchmark. The Strategy aims to achieve its objective by seeking to maximise exposure to permissible 
investments (investment universe as detailed above) through Osmosis's utilisation of its Model of Resource 
Efficiency (MoRE), as further detailed below, in a market neutral strategy. Osmosis targets long exposure to 
shares of companies that are deemed to be resource efficient by Osmosis using the MoRE Model and short 
exposure to shares of companies that are deemed to be resource intensive by Osmosis using the MoRE Model. 
The Strategy neutralises the exposure to other traditional common factors. The Strategy aims to achieve its 
objective by maximising its exposure to resource efficient public companies. The selection of companies is 
based on sector relevant, objective analysis of such companies in their use of energy per unit of revenue, water 
consumption per unit of revenue and creation of waste per unit of revenue. 

The investment objective of the Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund as defined above 
clearly matches three sustainable investment objectives: the environmental objective (as set out in Article 9 of 
Regulation (EU) 2020/852) is climate change mitigation, sustainable use and protection of water and marine 
resources and the transition to a circular economy. This is because the Market Neutral Fund prioritises 
investment in companies that generate less carbon emissions, use less water and generate less waste per unit of 
revenue compared to peers in the same sectors.  
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
How did the sustainability indicators perform? 

The sustainability indicators used are carbon, water and waste footprinting. Comparing the carbon, water and 
waste footprints of the short book with those of the long book emphasizes a significant saving in carbon 
emissions, reduction in water use and less generation of waste (see below for Figure 1).  

 

Figure 1. Carbon, water and waste of the Long book in the  Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral 
Fund compared to the Short Book in September 2022 

… and compared to previous periods? 

A comparison to previous periods is not meaningful as the emphasis of carbon, water and waste savings is made 
by comparing the long book to the short book. Since these will fluctuate over time, so will our savings.  

How did the sustainable investments not cause significant harm to any sustainable investment objective?  

How were the indicators for adverse impacts on sustainability factors taken into account? 

Adverse impacts should be understood as those impacts of investment decisions and advice that result in 
negative effects on sustainability factors. Osmosis’s evidence-based approach looks at objective and verifiable 
measures of sustainability, through the stripping out of subjective data such as environmental targets or policies, 
measuring sustainable action over intent.  

At the level of the Strategy, Osmosis can demonstrate the carbon, water and waste savings of the long portfolio 
relative to the short portfolio. The long and short portfolio footprint savings are calculated and communicated on 
a quarterly basis, as well as on client request. They are a key outcome of Osmosis's portfolio construction 
process, and effectively measure the net impact of the resulting portfolio. 
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Were sustainable investments aligned with the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and the 
UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights? Details:  

No. However, all Osmosis portfolios, including the Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund, 
align with the UN Global Compact Principles for social and governance safeguards. This means that any 
company in breach of these principles will be automatically excluded from portfolio selection.  Tobacco 
companies are also excluded.  

How did this financial product consider principal adverse impacts on sustainability factors? 

Adverse impacts should be understood as those impacts of investment decisions and advice that result in 
negative effects on sustainability factors. Osmosis’s evidence-based approach looks at objective and verifiable 
measures of sustainability, through the stripping out of subjective data such as environmental targets or policies, 
measuring sustainable action over intent.  

At the level of the Strategy, Osmosis can demonstrate the carbon, water and waste savings of the long portfolio 
relative to the short portfolio. The long and short portfolio footprint savings are calculated and communicated on 
a quarterly basis, as well as on client request. They are a key outcome of Osmosis's portfolio construction 
process, and effectively measure the net impact of the resulting portfolio. 

What were the top investments of this financial product? 

Largest investments (Long book )   Sector                                            % Assets                        Country 

Brystol-Myers Squibb Co                  Health Care                                        4.12%                              USA 

Ono Pharmaceutical Co Ltd               Health Care                                        4.12%                              Japan 

Edison International                           Utilities                                               3.91%                              USA  

Kraft Heinz Co                                   Consumer Staples                               3.85%                              USA 

Yokogawa Electric Corp                    Information Technology                     3.66%                             Japan 

Shimadzu Corp                                   Information Technology                     3.39%                             Japan 

Yakult Honsha                                    Consumer Staples                               3.32%                            Japan 

WSP Global Inc                                  Industrials                                           3.09%                            Canada 

Consolidated Edison Inc                     Utilities                                               3.01%                            USA 

Techtronic Industries Co Ltd              Industrials                                           2.81%                            Hong Kong 

 

 

Reference period: July 2021 – July 2022  
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
Largest investments (Short book)  Sector                                            % Assets                         Country 

Lilly Eli & Co                                      Health Care                                   -3.04%                              USA 

Ajinomoto Co Inc                                Consumer Staples                         -2.99%                              Japan 

RWE AG                                              Utilities                                         -2.92%                             Germany   

Lonza Group AG                                  Health Care                                  -2.86%                              Switzerland 

Alliant Energy Corp                             Utilities                                         -2.82%                              USA 

Ibiden Co Ltd                                        Information Technology              -2.75%                              Japan 

Solvay SA                                             Materials                                      -2.69%                              Belgium 

Sekisui Chemical Co Ltd                      Consumer Discretionary              -2.65%                              Japan 

Nissan Chemical Corp                          Materials                                      -2.61%                              Japan 

Texas Instruments Inc                           Information Technology              -2.59%                              USA 

 

 

Reference period: July 2021 – July 2022  

What was the proportion of sustainability-related investments? 

What was the asset allocation? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

#1 Sustainable 

100% 

Environmental 

100% 
Other 

100% Investments Social 

0% #2 Not sustainable 

0% 

Taxonomy-aligned 

0% 
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

Key: 

 #1 Sustainable: covers sustainable investments with environmental or social objectives; 
 #2 Not sustainable: includes investments which do not qualify as sustainable investments 
 Environmental: covers sustainable investments with environmental objectives; 
 Social: covers sustainable investments with social objectives; 
 Taxonomy-aligned: covers sustainable investments with environmental objectives aligned  with 
the EU Taxonomy, see below; 
Other: covers sustainable investments with environmental objectives not aligned with the EU Taxonomy. 

In which economic sectors were the investments made? 

The investment universe (“Investment Universe”) for the Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral 
Fund comprises the world’s largest public companies in developed global markets. Most economic sectors are 
represented, except for Financials and REITs.  The Resource Efficiency Factor Score is generated through  the 
Osmosis MoRE  Model which  calculates  scores  on  a  systematic  basis  using  a proprietary resource 
efficiency valuation metric derived from observed amounts of energy consumed, water use, and waste created 
relative to revenue generated for each company in the global large cap universe.   

The multi-factor score is generated by combining the individual factors of GHG emissions,  water  use,  and  
waste  generated  which  are  used  to  quantify  a  company's  resource efficiency relative  to  their  sector  
peers. All sectors are considered and as such, the investments were made in all economic sector in the MSCI 
World. This means that some sectors are covered by the EU Taxonomy, but some are not. In our view, investing 
in companies in sectors that aren’t included in the EU Taxonomy still constitute sustainable investments, since 
they have been selected based  on Resource Efficiency. 

To what extent were sustainable investments with an environmental objective aligned with the EU 
Taxonomy? 

What was the share of investments made in transitional and enabling activities? 

We cannot yet determine this figure due to the lack of data.  

How did the percentage of investments aligned with the EU Taxonomy compare with previous reference 
periods? 

This question cannot yet be answered because of lack of disclosure by companies, making the alignment figure 
impossible to calculate as of yet.  
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

What was the share of sustainable investments with an environmental objective that were not aligned 
with the EU Taxonomy? 

Currently EU Taxonomy alignment has not been fully calculated for the Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity 
Market Neutral Fund due to lack of disclosure by companies.  

What was the share of socially sustainable investments? 

The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund does not target social sustainability. However, as 
mentioned above, it has ethical  exclusions  such  that  companies  that  are  in  breach  of  the  UN  Global 
Compact principles (the "UNGC Principles") are automatically excluded from any investment, in addition to 
companies in the tobacco sector. 

What investments were included under “not sustainable”, what was their purpose and were there any 
minimum environmental or social safeguards? 

No investments were included under “not sustainable”. As explained above, Osmosis utilises its MoRE Model 
to arrive at a Resource Efficiency Factor Score for public companies to identify  high  quality  companies  with  
strong  management teams and an environmental competitive advantage, i.e those companies that are 
successfully transitioning to  a  greener  economy.  Osmosis  portfolios  are  constructed based on those 
companies  which  have  improved sustainability  characteristics  focused  on  carbon  emission,  water  
consumption  and  waste  creation  and which  target  an  excess  performance  derived  from  the  tilts  to  such  
sustainability  factors.  Therefore, Osmosis, through its MoRE Model, maximises sustainability exposure within 
the risk tolerance of investors, notwithstanding the broad nature of any applicable benchmark. The nature of the 
investment approach developed by Osmosis enables its strategies to achieve its sustainability objectives. As 
such, we do not consider any of our investments as being “not sustainable”.  

What actions have been taken to attain the sustainable investment objective during the reference period? 

1. Data collection and research within the Environmental Research Team:  
The MoRE Model analyses the disclosing universe of public companies contained within the benchmark that 
disclose sufficiently on their energy consumption, waste creation and water consumption, in the public domain 
through their annual reports and sustainability reports; this data is checked for completeness and accuracy and 
then entered into the MoRE Model database making it part of the disclosing universe of stocks. The specialist 
research team at the Investment Manager assesses, corrects, normalises and collates resource efficiency data 
from large corporates as its core function. Data runs through a statistical check on both absolute quantities and 
intensities. Significant data variations and anomalies with respect to previous years are automatically selected 
for manual analysis: annual and semi-annual sustainability reports are then researched to validate or correct the 
original source information. 
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 
2. Shareholder activism and engagement 
Key to attaining our three objectives (climate change mitigation, sustainable use of water and circular economy) 
is disclosure of carbon, water and waste metrics. To be eligible for investment in our portfolios, companies must 
disclose at least two of the environmental metrics of Carbon, Water and Waste. We believe that companies that 
disclose, manage, and reduce their inputs are often better managed. Our belief in the importance of a firm’s 
environmental footprint to its economic sustainability is also reflected in the proxy voting and engagement we 
undertake on behalf of our clients. Osmosis’ Proxy Voting Policy seeks to actively manage and mitigate 
exposure to climate-related risks in portfolio companies, accurately reflecting Osmosis’ belief in the long-term 
materiality of climate and environmental issues to shareholder value. We work with all our clients to ensure 
their portfolios are run in accordance with their financial and nonfinancial investment guidelines.  

Osmosis’ engagement extends further than proxy voting. Encouraging companies to develop more granular and 
robust sustainability reporting has been a long-term focus for us. We engage with companies to discuss the 
materiality of their environmental data to the balance sheet and the accuracy of their disclosure. Through regular 
non-disclosing campaigns and ad hoc company targeting, we explain the importance of environmental 
data/reporting and the consequences of non-disclosure. Once a relationship has been established, companies 
often reach out to Osmosis to request further input or additional guidance. In 2021, we engaged with 177 
companies on carbon, water and waste. In 2022, we went even further, rolling out thematic engagement 
campaigns, such as engaging with airline companies regarding ghost flight, and engaging with Oil and Gas 
companies, as well as companies using thermal coal targeting our climate change mitigation objective.  

How did this financial product perform compared to the reference sustainable benchmark? 

- How did the reference benchmark differ from a broad market index? 
The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund is a absolute return strategy and there is no 
relevant sustainability benchmark. 

- How did this financial product perform with regard to the sustainability indicators to determine the 
alignment of the reference benchmark with the sustainable investment objective? 

The Market Neutral Strategy's sustainable investment objective is attained by the implementation by Osmosis of 
the investment strategy detailed above. As the Strategy is an absolute return strategy there is no relevant 
sustainability benchmark, however, the investment approach specifically targets resource efficient companies in 
its long book while holding resource intensive companies in its short book. Osmosis specifically measures and 
provides carbon, water and waste metrics at a portfolio level and these demonstrate environmental savings in the 
40-60% range. 
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APPENDIX 4 – SUSTAINABLE FINANCE DISCLOSURE REGULATION (Unaudited) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 (continued) 
 

- How did this financial product perform compared with the reference benchmark? 
As mentioned above, the Market Neutral has no reference benchmark.  

 

Figure 3: The Osmosis Resource Efficient Equity Market Neutral Fund growth from July 2018 (inception date) 
to September 2022 

- How did this financial product perform compared with the broad market index? 
Not applicable given that the Market Neutral Strategy is an absolute return strategy. 
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